

# he effects of a postnatal high-fat diet on puberty onset and estrous cyclicity in female rats – a kisspeptin study

Master's thesis in Medicinal and Molecular Biology by Maria Elena Klibo Lie

Internal supervisor:	Kim R. Rewitz	
External supervisor:	Jens D. Mikkelsen	

Neurobiology Research Unit Copenhagen University Hospital, Rigshospitalet Submitted: April 30<sup>th</sup> 2012

RUC Roskilde Universitet

# Preface

The present thesis describes a selected part of the work performed and results generated, during a one-year period aiming to attain the Master of Science Degree in Medicinal- and Molecular Biology at the Department of Science, Systems and Models, Roskilde University.

The work was carried out from May 2011 to April 2012 at the Neurobiology Research Unit, Department of Neurology, Rigshospitalet under the supervision of Jens D. Mikkelsen, MD, DMSc and Kim F. Rewitz, PhD.

A part of the work in present thesis was presented at the Third INF International Conference on Integrative Neuroendocrinology, Dourado, São Paulo, by means of a poster with the title: The effects of postnatal high-fat diet on puberty onset and Kiss1 mRNA levels in female rats. Lie MEK., Bentsen AH, Mikkelsen JD.

The present work is planned for publication in an article with the working title: The effects of a postnatal high-fat diet on pubertal timing and estrous cyclicity in female rats – a kisspeptinergic study.

Lie MEK, Bentsen AH, Mikkelsen JD (in preparation)

Maria Elena Klibo Lie Copenhagen, April 2012

# Abstract

The age of puberty onset in girls has advanced within the last few decades. This is considered to be due, at least in part, to the increasing prevalence of childhood obesity, as epidemiological studies have shown an association between early puberty onset in girls associated with obesity markers early in life or in peri-puberty. The increasing obesity epidemic has also been associated with an increased incidence of reproductive dysfunction in women and the demand for fertility treatment has increased. These associations do not prove causality and other factors can contribute to the secular trends in pubertal timing and impaired reproductive function. However, due to the increasing obesity problem it is becoming increasingly important to investigate this connection and the underlying mechanism of a nutritional regulation of puberty onset and reproductive impairment. In rodents, an association between a positive energy status during development and an advancement of puberty onset and an irregular estrous cycle, have also been reported, but like in humans little is known about the underlying mechanism.

During the last decade, it has been revealed that the hypothalamic neuropeptide kisspeptin, encoded by the *Kiss1* gene, is pivotal in the regulation of the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis that controls maturation and reproduction, and thereby drives neuroendocrine pubertal maturation. Furthermore, kisspeptin neurons have recently emerged as a putative conduit for a metabolic regulation of the HPG axis, with leptin being a positive modulator of *Kiss1* expression.

Little is known about the impact of exposure to a high-fat diet alone in rodents, and the mechanisms have only been studied scarcely. Therefore, the question is whether an increase in fat energy percentage in the diet alone can advance puberty onset and interfere with estrous cyclicity in female rats, and if the kisspeptinergic system is involved and/or affected in this.

The first aim of this thesis was to evaluate the effects of a postnatal high-fat-diet, with 60% energy from fat, during three different periods (lactation, post weaning, or both periods) on puberty onset, revealed by vaginal opening (V.O.). To gain mechanistic insight concomitant changes in the kisspeptinergic system at peri-puberty were assessed by *Kiss1* expression determined using qRT-PCR, and kisspeptin-immunoreactivity (kisspeptin-ir).

No effects of a postnatal high-fat diet exposure, in any of the periods, on puberty onset or body weights were observed. In accordance, no changes in leptin, insulin, triglycerides, and estradiol were identified. As reported previously, a postnatal maturation of the kisspeptinergic system at peri-puberty and from peri-puberty to early adulthood was observed. However, no effects of the high-fat diet on *Kiss1* expression and kisspeptin-ir in the two hypothalamic nuclei, the arcuate nucleus (ARC) and the anteroventral periventricular nucleus (AVPV), were detected.

The second aim was to evaluate the effect of a high-fat diet exposure from weaning and for 40 days on estrous cyclicity in adult rats in relation to changes in the kisspeptinergic system.

The high-fat diet induced an irregular estrous cyclicity by prolonging the estrous cycle in a subgroup of the rats, characterized by an unaffected body weight and increased leptin levels. Surprisingly, the high-

fat fed rats, characterized by an increased body weight with a less pronounced increase in leptin as the irregular rats, had a regular estrous cycle. *Kiss1* expression and kisspeptin-ir in ARC and AVPV were unchanged by the high-fat diet in both groups of rats.

In conclusion, these data shows that a high-fat diet induces an irregular cycle in rats by extending the diestrous phase, maybe through leptin, without modulating hypothalamic *Kiss1* expression or kisspeptin levels. The data also indicate that a postnatal high-fat diet has no effect on puberty onset or hypothalamic *Kiss1* expression and kisspeptin levels, in female rats. These findings suggest that an increase in fat energy percentage in the diet alone do not regulate puberty onset or affect the kisspeptinergic system. This is in line with several epidemiological studies unable to establish a correlation between obesity markers at puberty and an earlier puberty onset.

# Table of contents

Introduction	1
Pubertal maturation and reproductive attainment in humans	2
Kiss1 and kisspeptin	4
Kiss1R – the kisspeptin receptor	5
Neuroanatomical location of kisspeptin in adulthood	5
Postnatal developmental changes in kisspeptin neuronal populations	6
Functional activation of the kisspeptinergic system	8
Kisspeptin and the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis	9
Kisspeptin and interaction with GnRH neurons	9
Kisspeptin – the most potent elicitor of GnRH secretion	10
Sex steroids regulate the HPG axis through kisspeptin	10
Reactivation of the GnRH pulse generator at puberty onset – the role of kisspeptin	11
Estrogen – the driving upstream signal?	12
Reproduction – focus on kisspeptin	14
Kisspeptin is a central regulator of the preovulatory LH surge and estrous cyclicity	14
The nutritional status and the effect on the HPG axis – focus on kisspeptin	16
Metabolic control of the HPG axis via kisspeptin	16
Leptin	17
Ghrelin and neuropeptide Y	18
Nutritional effects on sex steroid levels and bioavailability	18
Neuronal programming of neuroendocrine networks involved in puberty and reproduction	19
Leptin-dependent projections from arcuate nucleus	19
Aims	20
Materials and Methods	21
Animals	21
Test diets	21
Experimental designs	22
The effect of a postnatal high-fat diet, in different postnatal periods, on puberty onset and the kisspeptinergic system	22
Experiment 1 – post-weaning high-fat diet exposure	22
Experiment 1B – post-weaning high-fat diet exposure	23
Experiment 2 - postnatal high-fat diet exposure during lactation	23
Experiment 3 – postnatal high-fat diet from birth to puberty	23
The effect of a high-fat diet exposure on estrous cycle regularity and the kisspeptinergic system	24
Experiment 4 – high-fat diet from weaning and to early adulthood	24

Developmental changes in the kisspeptin system at peri-puberty and to early adulthood	24
Hormone and metabolic factor measurements	24
Leptin	25
Insulin	25
Triglyceride	25
Estradiol	26
RNA analysis by qRT-PCR	26
The principle of qRT-PCR	26
RNA extraction	26
Reverse transcriptase of mRNA to cDNA	28
Oligonucleotide primers for qRT-PCR	28
The procedure for qRT-PCR	29
Dataanalysis	29
Immunohistochemistry	30
The principle of immunohistochemistry	30
Preparation of tissue for immunohistochemistry	30
The immunohistochemistry procedure	30
Dataanalysis	31
Estrous cycle regularity	31
Evaluation of vaginal cytology and the estrous cycle	31
Preparation of vaginal smears	32
H&E staining procedure	33
Data analysis of estrous cyclicity	33
Presentation of data and statistical analysis	33
Results	35
Developmental changes in the kisspeptin system	35
The number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC increases at puberty onset	35
Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC and AVPV as well as the number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC increases fro PND34 to early adulthood	om 37
The impact of a postnatal high-fat diet in different developmental periods on pubertal timing and the kisspeptinergic system	<u>-</u> 39
Experiment 1 – Post-weaning high-fat diet exposure	39
Exposure to a post-weaning high-fat diet has no effect on puberty onset	39
Exposure to post-weaning high-fat diet has no effect on leptin, triglyceride, insulin, and estradiol levels	40
Kiss1 mRNA and kisspeptin levels in the hypothalamus are not affected by a post-weaning high-fat diet	40
Experiment 1b - Post-weaning high-fat diet exposure to puberty	41
Exposure to post-weaning high-fat diet has no effect on puberty onset	41

Experiment 2 – high-fat diet during lactation	42
Early life exposure to a high-fat diet has no effect on puberty onset	42
Early life exposure to a high-fat diet has no effect on leptin, triglyceride, insulin, or estradiol levels in pubertal rats	43
Kiss1 mRNA levels in the hypothalamus are not affected by a high-fat diet exposure through lactation	44
Experiment 3 –high-fat diet from birth to puberty	45
Exposure to a high-fat diet increases triglyceride and decreases estradiol levels in lactating rats	45
High-fat diet exposure from birth to puberty has no effect on puberty onset	45
High-fat diet exposure from birth to puberty have no effects on leptin, triglyceride, insulin or estradiol levels in the pubertal rats	n 46
Kiss1 mRNA levels in the hypothalamus is not affected by a postnatal high-fat diet exposure	47
High-fat diet, estrous cyclicity, and the kisspeptinergic system	48
Experiment 4 – high-fat diet from weaning to adulthood	48
High-fat diet exposure from weaning onwards extend the estrous cycle in young adult rats	48
High-fat diet exposure from weaning increases leptin levels in young adults	49
High-fat diet exposure from weaning to adulthood has no effect on Kiss1 mRNA or kisspeptin in the hypothalamus	49
Discussion	51
The effects of a postnatal high-fat diet exposure on puberty onset, and the kisspeptinergic system	51
High-fat diet exposure from weaning	51
High-fat diet exposure through lactation	53
High-fat diet exposure through lactation and post-weaning	55
Nutritional induced changes in pubertal timing in rodents and humans – translational aspects	56
Estrous cyclicity	58
Maturation of the kisspeptinergic system	60
Conclusion	62
Perspectives	63
Acknowledgements	64
References	65
Appendix I	72
Appendix II	73
Appendix III	74

# Abbreviations

ARC	Arcuate nucleus
AVPV	Anteroventral periventricular nucleus
BMI	Body mass index
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
cDNA	Complementary single stranded deoxyribonucleic acid
Ct	Threshold cycles
DAB	3,3'-Diaminobenzidine
ERα	Estrogen receptor α
ERE	Estrogen response element
FSH	Follicle-stimulating hormone
GABA	Gamma-aminobutyric acid
GnRH	Gonadotropin-releasing hormone
$H_2O_2$	Hydrogen peroxide
H&E	Hematoxylin and eosin Y
HFD	High-fat diet
HPG	Hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal
IHC	Immunohistochemistry
JLV-1	Name of antiserum against murine kisspeptin-52
Kiss1	Gene encoding kisspeptin
Kiss1R	Gene encoding the kisspeptin receptor
Kisspeptin-ir	Kisspeptin-immunoreactive
Lepr	Gene encoding the leptin receptor
LH	Luteinizing hormone
MBH	Mediobasal hypothalamus
NPY	Neuropeptide Y
ob/ob	Leptin deficiency
db/db	Leptin receptor deficiency
OD	Optical density
PBS	Phosphate buffered saline
PLCβ	Phospholipase Cβ
PeN	
PND	Periventricular nucleus
	Postnatal day
POA	Postnatal day Preoptic area
POA PCOS	Periventricular nucleus Postnatal day Preoptic area Polycystic ovary syndrome
POA PCOS qRT-PCR	Periventricular nucleus Postnatal day Preoptic area Polycystic ovary syndrome Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction
POA PCOS qRT-PCR RP3V	Postnatal day Preoptic area Polycystic ovary syndrome Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction Rostral periventricular area of the third ventricle
POA PCOS qRT-PCR RP3V Rrpm	Periventricular nucleus Postnatal day Preoptic area Polycystic ovary syndrome Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction Rostral periventricular area of the third ventricle Rounds per minute
POA PCOS qRT-PCR RP3V Rrpm SEM	Periventricular nucleus Postnatal day Preoptic area Polycystic ovary syndrome Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction Rostral periventricular area of the third ventricle Rounds per minute Standard error mean
POA PCOS qRT-PCR RP3V Rrpm SEM TMB	Periventricular nucleus Postnatal day Preoptic area Polycystic ovary syndrome Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction Rostral periventricular area of the third ventricle Rounds per minute Standard error mean 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine

# Introduction

It has recently been reported, that the age of puberty onset in girls has advanced within the last few decades both in Europe and in the US (Euling et al., 2008, Aksglaede et al., 2009b, Biro et al., 2010). This is also reflected by an increased incidence of precocious puberty amongst girls (Mouritsen et al., 2010). Pubertal development is dependent on a critical amount of body energy stores (Donato et al., 2011a), and the increased prevalence of overweight and obese children (Cole, 2006) has drawn attention to the possible relation to the secular trend in pubertal timing in girls (Kaplowitz, 2008, Ahmed et al., 2009). Epidemiological data have shown that obesity markers in early life or at peripuberty are associated with an advanced pubertal timing in girls (He and Karlberg, 2001, Davison et al., 2003, Lee et al., 2007, Kaplowitz, 2008, Aksglaede et al., 2009a, Rosenfield et al., 2009, Maisonet et al., 2010). The importance of this is stressed by the pathological relevance given earlier pubertal maturation is associated with an increased risk of adult obesity, adult-onset diabetes, breast cancer, cardiovascular diseases (Dunger et al., 2006, Ahmed et al., 2009), and adult reproductive defects (Castellano et al., 2011).

Like pubertal maturation, reproductive function is dependent on body energy status (Donato et al., 2011a), and it is well known that reproductive function in women is impaired by both a negative (Frisch, 1994, Cunningham et al., 1999, Parent et al., 2003) and a positive nutritional status in adults (Pasquali et al., 2007). The increasing obesity epidemic is associated with an increased prevalence of reproductive dysfunction in women and the demand for fertility treatment has increased equivalently (Barber et al., 2006, Nelson and Fleming, 2007, Pasquali et al., 2007). Also, the prevalence of polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS), which is strongly associated with an increased BMI and a reduced reproductive function, has increased and is believed to increase further in the future (Barber et al., 2006, Pasquali et al., 2007). The impaired reproductive function caused by an increased BMI is characterized by an irregular estrous cyclicity, oligo-anovulation, and infertility (Linne, 2004, Pasquali et al., 2007), which can be improved by weight loss in women with an increased BMI (Linne, 2004, Barber et al., 2006, Nelson and Fleming, 2007).

The apparent association between an increased nutritional status and earlier puberty onset in girls and an impaired reproductive function in women based on epidemiological data do not prove causality, and other factors like endocrine disrupting chemicals can be contributing (Mouritsen et al., 2010). However, due to the increasing obesity epidemic worldwide (Cole, 2006, Kaplowitz, 2008, Ahmed et al., 2009) it is becoming increasingly important to investigate this association and the underlying mechanism of a nutritional regulation of puberty onset and reproductive function.

In 2003, two research groups independently reported that humans with loss of function mutations in Kiss1R, the receptor for the neuropeptide kisspeptin encoded by the *Kiss1* gene, suffered from isolated hypogonadotropic hypogonadism, characterized by impairment of pubertal maturation and reproduction (de Roux et al., 2003, Seminara et al., 2003). The same phenotype has been observed in

Kiss1R deficient and kisspeptin deficient mice (Seminara et al., 2003, d'Anglemont de Tassigny et al., 2007, Lapatto et al., 2007). In accordance, a mutation causing enhanced Kiss1R signaling has been found in a child with precocious puberty (Dhillo, 2008). These data had significant impact on the understanding of the mechanism behind puberty onset regulation, as kisspeptin-Kiss1R signaling seems to be a key molecular mechanism involved. This is consistent with kisspeptin being the most potent positively regulator of the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal (HPG) axis known today (Navarro et al., 2005a, Navarro et al., 2005b), and by its ability to advance puberty onset when administered chronically in rats (Navarro et al., 2004b).

Many peripheral and central factors are implicated in the metabolic control of GnRH neurons that constitute the highest level in the HPG axis, including the adipose-hormone leptin, but intermediate networks seems to be involved since the GnRH neurons do not express leptin receptors (Cunningham et al., 1999, Castellano et al., 2010). In recent years, kisspeptin neurons have emerged as a plausible conduit for the metabolic regulation of GnRH neurons and thereby the HPG axis (Tena-Sempere, 2006a, Castellano et al., 2010, Roa et al., 2011). Several studies have documented a clear effect of a changed energy status on *Kiss1* and kisspeptin expression in the hypothalamus in rodents and higher primates (Castellano et al., 2005, Luque et al., 2007, Backholer et al., 2010, Castellano et al., 2011, Wahab et al., 2011), which render it possible that kisspeptin could be implicated in the nutritional induced advancement of puberty onset in girls and impaired reproductive function in women.

In rodents, a positive energy status during development has also been associated with earlier puberty onset and an irregular estrous cycle (Boukouvalas et al., 2008, Chang et al., 2008, Brill and Moenter, 2009, Lo et al., 2009, Akamine et al., 2010, Boukouvalas et al., 2010, Castellano et al., 2011, Moral et al., 2011, Smith and Spencer, 2012). However, little is known about the effect of exposure to a high-fat diet alone, and the underlying mechanisms have only been studied scarcely in rodents (Castellano et al., 2011). Therefore, the aim of this thesis is to evaluate whether an increase in fat energy percentage in the diet alone in different postnatal periods, have an effect on puberty onset and estrous cyclicity, and whether the kisspeptinergic system is affected in relation to this.

#### Pubertal maturation and reproductive attainment in humans

Puberty is a developmental transition where secondary sexual characteristics and reproductive function are attained (Terasawa and Fernandez, 2001, Plant and Barker-Gibb, 2004). Pubertal maturation is comprised of two independent physiological developmental processes; gonadarche and adrenarche. Gonadarche refers to the activation of the gonads driving thelarche and menarche, whereas adrenarche refers to the activation of the adrenal cortex which drives pubarche (Plant and Barker-Gibb, 2004). The absence of adrenarche do not prevent fertility and gonadarche, and adrenarche can thus be viewed as a corollary, rather than an integral component, of the pubertal transition (Plant and Barker-Gibb, 2004). However, disorders of adrenal androgen secretion are not

clinically unimportant since hyperandrogenism is the most consistent feature in PCOS (Barber et al., 2006). In contrast to adrenarche, gonadarche occurs as a result of an activation of the hypothalamic gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) pulse generator (Plant and Witchel, 2006, Roa et al., 2008). With the previous in mind and since puberty onset is defined as thelarche, the mechanism that underline gonadarche will be the focus in the present study.

GnRH neurons have the ability to release GnRH in a pulsatile manner at infancy, but are restrained in early life so the gonads become quiescent during childhood. The restrain of the GnRH pulses during childhood is not caused by gonadal steroid suppression or the inability of GnRH neurons to secrete GnRH, but rather by central inhibition in the brain caused by gamma-aminobutyric acid (GABA) and neuropeptide Y (NPY) (Terasawa and Fernandez, 2001, Plant and Witchel, 2006). The GnRH pulse generator is reactivated at puberty leading to pulsatile releases of GnRH from the hypothalamus that stimulates the secretion of the gonadotropins, namely luteinizing hormone (LH) and folliclestimulating hormone (FSH), from the anterior pituitary (Plant and Witchel, 2006, Roa et al., 2008). LH and FSH act on somatic cells in the gonads to increase biosynthesis and release of gonadal sex steroids that are driving the pubertal development and attainment of reproductive capacity (Figure 1) (Plant and Barker-Gibb, 2004, Plant and Witchel, 2006, Roa et al., 2008, Terasawa et al., 2010).



Figure 1. The hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis. Gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) is secreted from GnRH neurons residing in the hypothalamus, and elicits a secretion of gonadotropins, luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), from the anterior pituitary. LH and FSH act on the gonads and stimulate the secretion of sex steroids which drives the pubertal maturation and attainment of reproductive function. See text for details.

The upstream triggering factor(s) responsible for reactivation of the GnRH pulse generator driving the pubertal maturation has not yet been defined (Plant and Barker-Gibb, 2004, Plant and Witchel, 2006, Terasawa et al., 2010). Based on the impaired pubertal maturation and reproductive dysfunction in humans and mice suffering from a mutation in Kiss1R (de Roux et al., 2003, Seminara et al., 2003, Lapatto et al., 2007), it is highly likely that the kisspeptinergic system plays a significant role in the reactivation of the GnRH pulse generator driving pubertal maturation and attainment of reproductive capacity (Keen et al., 2008).

# The Kiss1 gene and kisspeptin

Kisspeptin is derived from the *Kiss1* gene, which was first described in 1996 as a metastasissuppressor gene in relation to human melanomas (Lee et al., 1996). The human *Kiss1* gene is translated to a 145 amino acid prepropeptide (West et al., 1998), which is cleaved giving rise to a 54 amino acid product (amino acid 68-121), termed kisspeptin-54 (Kotani et al., 2001, Muir et al., 2001, Ohtaki et al., 2001, Aparicio, 2005, Roa et al., 2008). Also, shorter forms of kisspeptin sharing the same C-terminal as kisspeptin-54, have been isolated. These are 13 or 14 amino acids in length and are termed kisspeptin-13 and -14, respectively (Figure 2) (Kotani et al., 2001). Since no obvious cleavage sites are present for these shorter peptides, it is not clear to what degree they are produced endogenously or just a result of degradation of kisspeptin-54 (Kotani et al., 2001, Kirby et al., 2010). All the different kisspeptin peptides are collectively termed kisspeptin (Tena-Sempere, 2006b).

The receptor binding part of kisspeptin, consist of the 10 amino acids that are located in the aminated C-terminal necessary for the activity of kisspeptin (Ohtaki et al., 2001), and the shorter forms of kisspeptin are just as potent activators of Kiss1R as the longer forms (Kotani et al., 2001, Mikkelsen et al., 2009).

Kisspeptin prepropeptide



Figure 2. The human kisspeptin prepropeptide with the indication of kisspeptin-54, -14, and -13. The *Kiss1* gene encodes a 145 amino acid prepropeptide with a secretory signal sequence in the N-terminus, two potential dibasic cleavage sites at amino acid 57 and 67, and a cleavage and amidation site at amino acid 121-124. The prepropeptide is cleaved into a shorter fragment of 54 amino acids termed kisspeptin-54 with a consensus C-terminal arginine-phenylalanine-amide motif. Also, shorter forms of kisspeptin have been isolated in humans termed kisspeptin-13 and -14. These kisspeptins share the same C-terminal as kisspeptin-54. Numbers indicate amino acid residue in the primary sequence. *Modified from (Roa et al., 2008).* 

In rats and mice, cleavage sites occur at the same sites in the kisspeptin prepropetide, but they give rise to a peptide that is only 52 amino acids long. The rodent kisspeptin-52 differs from the human kisspeptin-54 in several other ways than the length including a tentative disulfide bridge, and one

amino acid difference in the C-terminal (Ohtaki et al., 2001). However, the human forms of kisspeptin elicits a response in rodents that are similar to the endogenous forms of kisspeptin, indicating that the sequence dissimilarities between humans and rodent have little or no effect on the receptor binding (Mikkelsen and Simonneaux, 2008, Mikkelsen et al., 2009).

# *Kiss1R – the kisspeptin receptor*

Kiss1R was discovered in 1999 as an G protein-coupled receptor (Lee et al., 1999), and was found to be the putative receptor for kisspeptin by three independent groups in 2001 (Kotani et al., 2001, Muir et al., 2001, Ohtaki et al., 2001). Newer studies have revealed that Kiss1R is the only receptor mediating the effect of kisspeptin (Messager et al., 2005, d'Anglemont de Tassigny et al., 2007). Kisspeptin bind and activates Kiss1R in many different tissues and have pleotropic functions including inhibition of metastasis, regulation of proliferation, and hormone secretion (Castano et al., 2009).

Kiss1R is expressed on GnRH neurons (Irwig et al., 2004, Messager et al., 2005, Herbison et al., 2010), and activation of Kiss1R, which is coupled to the  $G_{q/11}$  family of the G-proteins, elicits a secretion of GnRH by activating the phospholipase C $\beta$  (PLC $\beta$ ) pathway (Kotani et al., 2001, Muir et al., 2001, Becker et al., 2005, Castano et al., 2009). Activation of PLC $\beta$  leads to an increase in inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate and diacylglycerol, and a subsequent rise in intracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration which stimulates hormone release (Kotani et al., 2001, Liu et al., 2008, Castano et al., 2009). In addition to this, activation of Kiss1R has been reported to activate extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2 and p38 *in vitro* (Kotani et al., 2001). *Ex vivo* studies with hypothalamic tissue from rats support that kisspeptin induce GnRH secretion by activating PLC $\beta$  signaling as well as by activating the extracellular signal-regulated kinases 1 and 2 and p38 (Castellano et al., 2006a). Continuous activation of Kiss1R has been found to lead to a desensibilisation of the receptor (Seminara et al., 2006, Ramaswamy et al., 2007).

# Neuroanatomical location of kisspeptin in adulthood

A great number of studies have been conducted especially in rodents to map the neuroanatomical location of the kisspeptinergic neurons. Initial studies carried out by *in situ* hybridization in adult mice demonstrated that *Kiss1* are mainly expressed in two hypothalamic nuclei namely the anteroventral periventricular nucleus (AVPV) in the preoptic area (POA) and the arcuate nucleus (ARC) in the mediobasal hypothalamus (MBH) (Figure 3) (Gottsch et al., 2004, Smith et al., 2005a, Smith et al., 2005b). A lower expression of *Kiss1* was detected in other hypothalamic regions in mice including the periventricular nucleus (PeN) (Gottsch et al., 2004, Han et al., 2005, Smith et al., 2005a, Smith et al., 2005b). Immunohistochemistry studies conducted later confirmed the *in situ* hybridization data, however, these studies showed that the rostral kisspeptin neurons in POA are not only located in AVPV but appear in a continuum beyond the AVPV region to PeN, which is termed the rostral periventricular area of the third ventricle (RP3V) collectively (Clarkson and Herbison, 2006, Clarkson et al., 2009b). This region is termed AVPV in the present study.

Anatomical location studies of kisspeptin populations in the primate hypothalamus is limited (Plant, 2012). However, kisspeptin cell bodies have been found in women and female monkeys in the POA in areas that may correspond to the rodent AVPV (Plant, 2012). The POA kisspeptin population in women and female monkeys is in contrast to rodents, not located immediately alongside the third ventricle (Clarkson and Herbison, 2009). The infundibular nucleus corresponding to ARC in rodents is densely populated with kisspeptin neurons in humans (Plant, 2012). The infundibular nucleus in higher primates and humans is termed ARC in the present study.



Figure 3. Localisation of kisspeptinergic neurons in the rodent hypothalamus. Kiss1 mRNA and kisspeptin are localised in the anteroventral periventricular nucleus (AVPV) and arcuate nucleus (ARC). (A) Kisspeptin in AVPV is situated along the third ventricle from Bregma -0.26mm to -0.80. (B) Kisspeptin in ARC is situated from Bregma -2.12 to -4.52. AVPV and ARC presented here corresponds to figure 20 and 33, respectively in Paxinos and Watson (1986).

Despite the similar distribution patterns for kisspeptin in males and females and in different species, sexual dimorphism in the kisspeptin system is present. This sexual difference is very pronounced in the AVPV of rodents where male adults have fewer kisspeptin neurons than females, whereas no sexual dimorphism is present in ARC (Clarkson and Herbison, 2006, Kauffman et al., 2007, Clarkson et al., 2009b). This sexual dimorphism in AVPV seems to be organized by the effects of sex steroids during early development (Terasawa et al., 2010).

# Postnatal developmental changes in kisspeptin neuronal populations

The kisspeptinergic system undergoes neuroanatomical maturation during postnatal development, and developmental profiles of Kiss1 mRNA and kisspeptin expressing neurons in ARC and AVPV have been carried out in several species including mice and rats (Han et al., 2005, Clarkson and Herbison, 2006, Bentsen et al., 2009, Clarkson et al., 2009a, Takase et al., 2009).

Developmental studies in mice and rats showed no Kiss1 mRNA before postnatal day (PND) 15 to 20 in AVPV followed by a sudden increase in *Kiss1* expression in AVPV just prior to and around puberty onset (approximately PND30-36 for female and PND45 for males) which was most pronounced in females (Han et al., 2005, Bentsen et al., 2009, Takase et al., 2009, Takumi et al., 2011). Adult levels of *Kiss1* expression in AVPV appear to be reached at puberty since a small or no change was detected at adulthood (Clarkson and Herbison, 2006, Bentsen et al., 2009, Clarkson et al., 2009a, Takase et al., 2009a, Takase et al., 2009b, Clarkson et al., 2009a, Takase et al., 2009b, Clarkson et al., 2009b, Takase et al., 2009b

2009, Takumi et al., 2011). Immunohistochemistry studies support the developmental expression profiles in AVPV since the number of kisspeptin cells in AVPV were found to be very low at PND10 while a slight increase occurred from PND15 to 25 and again around puberty onset where adult levels was reached in both female and male mice (Clarkson and Herbison, 2006, Clarkson et al., 2009a, Mayer et al., 2010). Whether, the number of kisspeptin cells in AVPV changes at adulthood in rats has apparently not been assessed. The above data suggests that *Kiss1* expression and number of kisspeptin cells in AVPV is low before PND15 to 25, and appear to reach adult levels around puberty onset.

In contrast, only small developmental changes occur in ARC compared to AVPV. In female rats, an increase in *Kiss1* expression in ARC has been reported from PND21 to 26, where pubertal levels were reached (Takase et al., 2009, Takumi et al., 2011). A further increase in Kiss1 mRNA occurred again at adulthood in female rats (Takumi et al., 2011). Also, the number of kisspeptin cells increased equivalently in ARC, but not before PND31 (Takase et al., 2009, Desroziers et al., 2012). A study in male rats has detected Kiss1 mRNA at PND15, where a small gradual increase in *Kiss1* expression occurred at PND30 with a peak around puberty onset (Bentsen et al., 2009, Takumi et al., 2011). The number of kisspeptin cells in ARC in male rats were similar low at PND15 after which a gradual increase occurred prior to puberty and again after puberty (Bentsen et al., 2009). These data suggests that Kiss1 expression and the number of kisspeptin cells in ARC undergoes minor postnatal developmental changes that primarily occur just before onset of puberty and again after puberty. Though, Kiss1 mRNA in ARC has been reported to be present at embryonic day 13, and is also detectable at PND3, meaning that the ARC kisspeptin neuron population is specified well before the kisspeptinergic population in AVPV (Clarkson et al., 2010, Takumi et al., 2011). The developmental profile of kisspeptinergic neurons in AVPV and ARC in female rodents, based on the above data, is summarized in Figure 4A and B, respectively.



Figure 4. An illustration of the postnatal maturation of kisspeptinergic neurons in the anteroventral periventricular nucleus (AVPV) and the arcuate nucleus (ARC) in female rodents based on a summary of data obtained by others (Clarkson and Herbison, 2006, Clarkson et al., 2009a, Takase et al., 2009, Takumi et al., 2011, Desroziers et al., 2012). (A) Kisspeptin neurons in AVPV, depicted by changes in Kiss1 mRNA and number of kisspeptin cells, increases dramatically just prior to and around puberty onset, where adult levels appear to be present. (B) The developmental changes in Kiss1 mRNA and number of kisspeptin cells, are less pronounced than in AVPV, but an increase occurs primarily around puberty onset and again at adulthood. See text for more details.

Developmental changes in the kisspeptinergic neurons also occur in higher primates since an increase in *Kiss1* expression around puberty onset have been detected in MBH, containing the homolog of the rodent ARC, in both male and female monkeys (Shahab et al., 2005).

# Functional activation of the kisspeptinergic system

In coincidence with the neuroanatomical maturation of the kisspeptin neuron populations in AVPV and ARC just before and around puberty onset, functional activation of the kisspeptinergic system seems to take place.

Whether *Kiss1R* expression undergoes similar developmental changes as *Kiss1* expression in ARC and AVPV is less clear. A developmental expression profile of *Kiss1R* has been conducted by the use of the Kiss1R LacZ knockin-mouse model. This has revealed a developmental change in *Kiss1R* expression since approximately 35-45% of the GnRH neurons express *Kiss1R* from birth up to PND5, while adult levels at approximately 70% are reached around PND20 prior to puberty onset in both sexes (Figure 5A) (Herbison et al., 2010). Also, an increase in the number of close appositions between kisspeptin fibres and GnRH neurons occur just prior to puberty onset since they first appeared from PND25 and PND31 onwards for female and male mice respectively (Clarkson and Herbison, 2006). A further increase in GnRH neurons with kisspeptin appositions, occurred during adulthood (Figure 5B) (Han et al., 2005). These fibre projections are believed to arise from AVPV (Clarkson and Herbison, 2006). The neuroanatomical changes in *Kiss1R* expression and AVPV kisspeptin fibre projections are associated with a change in the number of GnRH neurons responding to kisspeptin, as an increase in the number of kisspeptin-responding GnRH neurons has been reported both from puberty to prepuberty and again at adulthood in male mice (Figure 5C) (Han et al., 2005).

The above findings indicate that GnRH neurons come into contact with kisspeptin neurons just before puberty onset which is accompanied by a concomitant increase in *Kiss1R* expression at GnRH neurons which is likely to increase the number of GnRH neurons that responds to kisspeptin. This is supported by studies showing that the stimulating effect of kisspeptin on LH release is enhanced around puberty (Han et al., 2005, Castellano et al., 2006a, Bentsen et al., 2009).



Figure 5 An illustration of the functional activation of the kisspeptinergic system just prior to puberty onset in female rodents based on a summary of data obtained by others (Han et al., 2005, Clarkson and Herbison, 2006, Herbison et al., 2010). (A) *Kiss1R* expressing GnRH neurons. (B) GnRH neurons with close kisspeptin appositions. (C) Kisspeptin-responding GnRH neurons. See text for further details.

# Kisspeptin and the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis

#### Kisspeptin and interaction with GnRH neurons

GnRH cell bodies are scattered throughout the basal forebrain including POA in rodents (Herde et al., 2011) and POA and MBH in higher primates (Plant, 2012). The majority of the GnRH axons are projecting to the external zone of the median eminence where they terminate on portal vessels and secrete GnRH into the hypothalamohypophysial portal system to the anterior pituitary (Herde et al., 2011, Plant, 2012).

In higher primates, kisspeptin terminals are found in close proximity to GnRH cell bodies (Ramaswamy et al., 2008). In rodents, it has been known for several years that AVPV kisspeptin fibers are in direct contact with the GnRH neurons in POA (Clarkson and Herbison, 2006, Yeo and Herbison, 2011), but it is less clear whether ARC kisspeptin fibers projects directly to GnRH neurons (Roa et al., 2011). Direct projections from ARC kisspeptin neurons to POA GnRH neurons have been reported by use of anterograde and retrograde tracing in female mice (Yeo and Herbison, 2011), whereas studies in female rats have been unable to find these projections to GnRH neurons in POA (True et al., 2011). In stead they report the presence of ARC kisspeptin fibers projecting to the internal zone of the median eminence in close proximity to GnRH fibers in the female rats (True et al., 2011).

#### Kisspeptin - the most potent elicitor of GnRH secretion

Several *in vivo* studies have shown that central administration of kisspeptin into the cerebral ventricle elicits a secretion of GnRH and LH in several species including rodents an monkeys (Gottsch et al., 2004, Irwig et al., 2004, Thompson et al., 2004, Kinoshita et al., 2005, Navarro et al., 2005a, Navarro et al., 2005b, Shahab et al., 2005, Keen et al., 2008). Also, systemic administration of kisspeptins leads to a release of LH in rodents and humans (Matsui et al., 2004, Dhillo et al., 2005, Messager et al., 2005, Navarro et al., 2005b, Dhillo et al., 2007). Since the eliciting effect of kisspeptin is blocked by pretreatment with acyline, a potent GnRH antagonist, the regulating effect of kisspeptin on LH appears to take place in a GnRH dependent manner (Gottsch et al., 2004, Irwig et al., 2004, Mason et al., 2007). This is supported by electrophysiological recordings showing that kisspeptin depolarizes GnRH neurons (Han et al., 2005), and by immunohistochemical data showing an activation of GnRH neurons, detected by cFos expression, upon kisspeptin administration (Irwig et al., 2004, Matsui et al., 2004). According to comparative analyses, kisspeptin is the most potent elicitor of GnRH secretion (Navarro et al., 2005a, Navarro et al., 2005b), which is mediated exclusively through Kiss1R, since Kiss1R deficient mice fail to exhibit a gonadotropin release in response to kisspeptin (Messager et al., 2005), whilst Kiss1 deficient mice exhibit a gonadotropin release in response to kisspeptin (d'Anglemont de Tassigny et al., 2007).

#### Sex steroids regulate the HPG axis through kisspeptin

GnRH neurons are regulated by feedback from sex steroids, but the GnRH neurons themselves lack steroid receptors involved in this feedback (Oakley et al., 2009, Smith, 2009). The kisspeptin neurons in ARC and AVPV express receptors for the sex steroids (Lehman et al., 2010), and sex steroids have been found to exert a negative regulation of *Kiss1* expression in ARC and a positive regulation of *Kiss1* expression in ARC and a positive regulation of *Kiss1* expression in AVPV in rodents (Smith, 2009). This support that kisspeptin neurons compose an intermediate circuit mediating the feedback of sex steroids upon GnRH secretion (Figure 6) (Smith, 2009). Though, the positive feedback of estradiol upon AVPV *Kiss1* expression is not established before PND20 in rats (Clarkson et al., 2009a).

ARC kisspeptin neurons in monkeys and humans appear to forward the negative feedback of sex steroids, but POA kisspeptin neurons, homolog to rodents, are not subjected to sex steroid regulation in monkeys and humans (Dhillo, 2008).

The molecular mechanisms responsible for the differential effects of sex steroids upon *Kiss1* expression in ARC and AVPV, remains unresolved, but several hypothesis exists. One possible explanation is that estradiol exerts its different effects by differential intracellular signaling (Oakley et al., 2009). Estradiol has been found to activate two different pathways trough the estrogen receptor  $\alpha$  (ER $\alpha$ ), namely the classical pathway, involving genomic estrogen response, and the non-genomic pathway, which is independent of the estrogen response element (ERE) (Oakley et al., 2009). ERE independent signaling appear to be sufficient for a negative regulation of LH, while the positive

feedback is dependent on ERE signaling thus render it possible that the different effects of estrogen on *Kiss1* expression in AVPV and ARC are due to differential intracellular signaling (Oakley et al., 2009). Also, epigenetic regulation of *Kiss1* expression induced by estrogens appears to be involved in the differential effects of estrogens on *Kiss1* expression in ARC and AVPV (Tomikawa et al., 2012).



Figure 6. The kisspeptinergic system, the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis, and the regulation hereof by sex steroids in rodents. Kisspeptin fibers project from the arcuate nucleus (ARC) and the anteroventral periventricular nucleus (AVPV) to gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons in the preoptic area (POA). Kisspeptin bind to and activates Kiss1R on GnRH neurons and elicits the secretion of GnRH. GnRH induces the secretion of luteinizing hormone (LH) and follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), from the anterior pituitary, which stimulates the secretion of sex steroids from the gonads. Sex steroids exert a negative and a positive feedback on Kiss1 mRNA in ARC and AVPV, respectively. See text for more details.

# Reactivation of the GnRH pulse generator at puberty onset – the role of kisspeptin

Although the neurobiological mechanisms triggering the reactivation of the GnRH pulse generator is still not elucidated (Plant and Barker-Gibb, 2004, Terasawa et al., 2010), it is certain that different hormonal changes precede the physical signs of puberty in both boys and girls. This is illustrated in prepubertal boys and girls by an increase in pulsatile release of gonadotropins including a nocturnal increase in frequency and amplitude of LH release. These changes are associated to changes in GnRH

pulses, as the frequency and amplitude of the GnRH pulses also increases during puberty with nocturnal peaks in humans (Terasawa and Fernandez, 2001).

Studies conducted in monkeys have shown that kisspeptin secretion increases in association with GnRH during the pubertal period. The nocturnal increase in kisspeptin was present just before the nocturnal increase in GnRH secretion, and the release of both kisspeptin and GnRH were pulsatile, and approximately 76% of the kisspeptin pulses appeared 10 minutes prior to the GnRH pulses (Keen et al., 2008). The presence of an increase in kisspeptin pulse frequency around puberty was also reported in another study conducted in monkeys (Terasawa et al., 2010). In accordance, an increase in *Kiss1* expression occurs around puberty in monkeys (Shahab et al., 2005). The nocturnal increase in kisspeptin preceding the nocturnal increase in GnRH as well as the increase in *Kiss1* expression seen during the pubertal period are consistent with the hypothesis that kisspeptin plays a pivotal role in the mechanisms regulating puberty onset in higher primates.

Similar developmental studies on the secretion of kisspeptin and GnRH have not been performed on rodents, but several things support that kisspeptin is pivotal in the regulation of puberty onset in rodents as well. A very strong indicator of kisspeptin's crucial role in rodents is kisspeptin's ability to advance puberty onset, when given as chronic central infusion (Navarro et al., 2004b), or delay puberty onset when kisspeptin signaling is suppressed by a kisspeptin antagonist (Pineda et al., 2010). This is in keeping with the literature showing that kisspeptin or Kiss1R deficient mice suffer from a delayed pubertal maturation (Lapatto et al., 2007). The neuroanatomical maturation and functional activation the kisspeptinergic system undergoes just prior to and around puberty, as described above, support that kisspeptin could play a pivotal role in the reactivation of the GnRH pulse generator. This hypothesis is challenged by the presence of a normal pubertal maturation in female mice devoid of kisspeptin or Kiss1R signaling, caused by a genetic ablation induced by diphtheria toxin A of either kisspeptin or Kiss1R neurons (Mayer and Boehm, 2011). The basis for such discrepancy remains to be elucidated, however, the possibility exist that the ablation of kisspeptin and Kiss1R neurons in Mayer and Boehm (2011) were not complete, and compensatory mechanisms enabling pubertal maturation with a limited number of kisspeptin or Kiss1R neurons may have occurred. This is in line with previous studies, reporting that a severed reduction in GnRH neurons from birth did not impair female maturation and reproductive capacity (Herbison et al., 2008), whereas timed elimination of kisspeptin neurons from PND20 impaired female maturation (Mayer and Boehm, 2011).

#### *Estrogen – the driving upstream signal?*

The question is whether other upstream signals drive these pubertal changes in kisspeptin and GnRH secretion? This is not fully understood in humans (Plant and Witchel, 2006), but in nonhumans primates, one hypothesis is that a reduction in GABA leads to an increased secretion of kisspeptin which then drives the pubertal increase in GnRH pulse frequency and amplitude. Whether kisspeptin reduces the GABA tone remains to be elucidated (Terasawa et al., 2010). Furthermore, it appears like

the pubertal increase in kisspeptin and GnRH is independent from the pubertal increase in sex steroids in primates (Plant and Witchel, 2006, Guerriero et al., 2012b). Though, studies have shown that the GnRH response to kisspeptin is abolished by ovariectomy in pubertal, but not prepubertal monkeys, and partly reversed by estradiol displacement. This suggests that the GnRH response mediated by Kiss1R undergoes changes after the exposure to the pubertal increase in estrogen in primates (Guerriero et al., 2012a).

In rodents, estrogens seem to be implicated in the developmental changes in kisspeptin (Clarkson et al., 2009a, Mayer et al., 2010). This is supported by a study showing that a genetic deletion of ER $\alpha$  in kisspeptin neurons decreases the number of kisspeptin cells in AVPV in female mice (Mayer et al., 2010). In keeping, ovariectomy at PND15 reduces the number of kisspeptin neurons in AVPV with 70-90% in both prepubertal and adult female mice which was normalized by estradiol displacement (Clarkson et al., 2009a). Same study showed that aromatase deficient female mice display no kisspeptin neurons in AVPV (Clarkson et al., 2009a). Both Clarkson et al. (2009a) and Mayer et al. (2010) had difficulties quantifying the number of kisspeptin cells in ARC in the female mice due to a dense fiber network, however no apparent change was detected by Clarkson et al. (2009a) whereas a decrease was detected upon the genetic deletion of ER $\alpha$  in kisspeptin neurons (Mayer et al., 2010). The importance of an ER $\alpha$  dependent regulation of kisspeptin and pubertal maturation is stressed by the impaired LH secretion in ER $\alpha$  deficient mice and by the absence of a normal estrous cycle (Mayer et al., 2010).

In rodents, the juvenile restraint of GnRH release is believed to be mediated by an estradiol dependent inhibition of GnRH secretion through kisspeptin neurons in ARC, whereas the subsequent pubertal stimulation of GnRH secretion is believed to depend on estradiol stimulation through kisspeptin neurons in AVPV (Mayer et al., 2010). In keeping, one hypothesis is that the increase in estradiol exposure increases kisspeptin in AVPV through positive feedback, which is established around PND20 in rodents. The increase in AVPV kisspeptin leads to an increase in GnRH neuron activity and a subsequent increase in estradiol, establishing a circuit driving the pubertal development. AVPV kisspeptin neurons can then be seen as estradiol dependent GnRH neuron activity amplifier where estradiol is essential for the appearance of kisspeptin expression in AVPV (Figure 7) (Clarkson et al., 2009a, Clarkson et al., 2010, Mayer et al., 2010). Whether estradiol drives the kisspeptin expression in other species remains to be defined (Garcia-Galiano et al., 2012).

It still remains unknown whether estradiol is a permissive factor, or driving the increase in kisspeptin in AVPV and thereby pubertal timing in rodents (Clarkson et al., 2009a). The latter possibility is supported by the presence of ER $\alpha$  in AVPV kisspeptin neurons in rodents (Smith et al., 2006b, Mayer et al., 2010), and by the ability of estrogen to exert a positive feedback on *Kiss1* expression in AVPV established at PND20 (Clarkson et al., 2009a). The importance of estradiol is further supported by the presence of ERE motifs in the *Kiss1* promotor in mice (Smith et al., 2005a) since ERE signaling is believed to be responsible for the positive feedback of estradiol (Oakley et al., 2009).



Figure 7. An illustration of the activation of AVPV kisspeptin neurons by estradiol at pre-puberty and establishment of the positive circuit composed of AVPV kisspeptin neurons, GnRH neurons, and estradiol. An initial increase in estradiol in prepuberty increases kisspeptin in AVPV through positive feedback from around PND20. At puberty, kisspeptin expression is fully developed and functioning to establish the positive circuit by amplifying GnRH neuron activity driving the pubertal development. See text for details. *Modified from (Clarkson et al., 2010).* 

# Reproduction – focus on kisspeptin

As described in *Kisspeptin – the most potent elicitor of GnRH secretion*, kisspeptin plays a pivotal role in the regulation of the reproductive axis, which is underlined by clinical data showing that reproductive capacity is impaired in humans and mice suffering from impaired kisspeptin-signalling (de Roux et al., 2003, Seminara et al., 2003, Lapatto et al., 2007).

Ovulation is triggered by a preovulatory LH surge, and the preovulatory LH surge, in rodents, appears as a pronounced increase in LH levels during the afternoon of proestrous followed by a drop in LH levels in the morning of estrous (Pineda et al., 2010), which is induced by a positive feedback of estrogens (Smith et al., 2006b). The mechanisms through which estrogens triggers the GnRH surge and thereby the preovulatory LH surge remains elusive (Clarkson and Herbison, 2009), but recent data suggest that kisspeptin plays a critical role in the regulation of the preovulatory LH surge (Pineda et al., 2010, Smith et al., 2011, Plant, 2012).

# Kisspeptin - a central regulator of the preovulatory LH surge and estrous cyclicity

A pharmacologic approach aiming to reveal the role of kisspeptin in relation to regulation of the LH surge has primarily been conducted with kisspeptin agonists. These studies have shown that kisspeptin induces a surge-like LH secretion in mammalian species including rodents and humans

(Dhillo et al., 2005, Kinoshita et al., 2005, Dhillo et al., 2007, Clarkson and Herbison, 2009), whereas a kisspeptin antagonist blocks the preovulatory LH surge in rats and monkeys (Pineda et al., 2010) (Shahab et al., 2005). Also, a lack of LH surge is reported in rats subjected to kisspeptin neutralisation by monoclonal antibodies (Kinoshita et al., 2005). The above data is in keeping with the absence of a kisspeptin induced surge-like LH secretion in Kiss1R deficient mice (Lapatto et al., 2007). In addition, kisspeptins ability to trigger ovulation has been reported in rats primed with gonadotropins to induce ovulation, where kisspeptin administration dramatically increases the number of ovulated oocytes (Matsui et al., 2004).

The AVPV kisspeptin neurons appear to be central players in the regulation of the preovulatory LH surge in rodents (Smith et al., 2006b). Immunohistochemical data shows a huge increase in the number of AVPV kisspeptin neurons coexpressing cFos on the afternoon of proestrouns compared to the second day of diestrous, showing that AVPV kisspeptin neurons are activated during the LH surge (Smith et al., 2006b). In addition to this, a peak in *Kiss1* expression in AVPV is occurring concomitant with the LH surge in rats (Smith et al., 2006b). As reviewed in Clarkson and Herbison, several studies support that the AVPV kisspeptin neurons are critical for the regulation of the preovulatory LH surge in rodents. Unlike AVPV kisspeptin neurons, ARC kisspeptin neurons do not seem to be involved in the preovulatory LH surge in rodents, but appear to be involved in the basal LH levels which involves the negative feedback action of estradiol on ARC kisspeptin neurons (Plant, 2012).

In contrast to rodents, POA kisspeptin neurons in higher primates, homolog to AVPV in rodents, do not seem to play a role in the control of the preovulatory LH surge (Plant, 2012). However, ARC neurons seems to be involved in the positive feedback action of estradiol that regulates the preovulatory LH, since Kiss1 mRNA in ARC increases in the late folicular phase (Plant, 2012). This idea is challenged since ARC kisspeptin appears to be negatively regulated by sex steroids in higher-primates (Dhillo, 2008).

Neutralisation of kisspeptin in cyclic rats by monoclonal antibodies against kisspeptin-54, not only abolished the preovulatory LH surge, but interfered with the estrous cyclicity depicted by a persistent estrous or diestrous (Kinoshita et al., 2005). This suggests that kisspeptin is not only important for the preovulatory LH surge, but also estrous cyclicity in rats. This is in keeping with previous literature showing the absence of a normal estrous cycle in kisspeptin or Kiss1R deficient mice (Lapatto et al., 2007) and in mice with a timed elimination of kisspeptin neurons at PND20 (Mayer and Boehm, 2011). The importance of kisspeptin, in relation to regulating the estrous cyclicity, is further supported by the fact that *Kiss1* expression in AVPV and ARC are dynamic throughout the estrous cycle (Navarro et al., 2004a, Smith et al., 2006b). In female rats, a gradual increase in *Kiss1* expression in AVPV is observed from the second day of diestrous to proestrous, where it peaks on the afternoon of proestrous, and decreases again at estrous (Smith et al., 2006b). The highest *Kiss1* expression in ARC is observed on the second day of diestrous with a gradual decline at proestrous and the lowest mRNA levels in estrous (Smith et al., 2006b).

# Metabolic control of the HPG axis via kisspeptin

A critical amount of body energy stores are needed for pubertal development, normal sexual maturation, cyclicity and fertility (Parent et al., 2003, Plant and Barker-Gibb, 2004, Donato et al., 2011a). Energy status is conveyed to the brain by numerous peripherally generated signals such including leptin, insulin, and ghrelin (Havel, 2001) and also by central peptides including NPY (Wu et al., 2009) in order to maintain energy homeostasis. As described, a positive nutritional status has an effect on the HPG axis depicted by an advanced pubertal timing and impaired reproductive function in girls and women associated with obesity markers (He and Karlberg, 2001, Davison et al., 2003, Lee et al., 2007, Nelson and Fleming, 2007, Pasquali et al., 2007, Kaplowitz, 2008, Aksglaede et al., 2009a, Rosenfield et al., 2009, Maisonet et al., 2010). Also, malnutrition and extreme physical exercise are associated with delayed pubertal maturation and reproductive dysfunction in both humans and animal models (Frisch, 1994, Cunningham et al., 1999, Parent et al., 2003), implying that certain amounts of energy stores is required for a proper reactivation and subsequent function of the HPG axis (Frisch, 1994).

In recent years, much focus has been on kisspeptin's potential contribution to the metabolic control of the HPG axis. Prerequisites for this are that: (i) a change in kisspeptin-tone at the GnRH neurons as a result of a change in nutritional status, and (ii) a nutritional induced effect on pubertal timing that can be abolished by kisspeptin administration. (i) The first requirement, have been confirmed in several species including rodents and higher primates. A negative energy status has been associated with reduced hypothalamic *Kiss1* mRNA levels (Castellano et al., 2005, Luque et al., 2007, Backholer et al., 2010, Castellano et al., 2011), and a decreased number of kisspeptin cells in ARC (Castellano et al., 2010, Castellano et al., 2011). In contrast, a positive energy status has been shown to increase hypothalamic *Kiss1* mRNA levels in rats (Castellano et al., 2011). (ii) Also, the second requirement has been confirmed. Female rats subjected to malnutrition experienced a delayed puberty onset, which was rescued by chronic kisspeptin administration (Castellano et al., 2005, Iwasa et al., 2010).

Many peripheral and central factors are implicated in the metabolic control of GnRH neurons (Navarro et al., 2004b, Castellano et al., 2010), but they may act though a modulation of *Kiss1* expression (Luque et al., 2007, Forbes et al., 2009, Wu et al., 2009, Castellano et al., 2010), and kisspeptin has appeared as a plausible key molecular conduit relaying the metabolic signals upon the GnRH neurons (Castellano et al., 2006b).

#### Leptin

The adipocyte-derived hormone leptin is a pleiotropic integrator signaling the magnitude of body energy stores to centers that regulate appetite and reproduction through modulation of GnRH neurons (Donato et al., 2011a). This is supported by hyperphagic obesity, infertility and lack of pubertal maturation in humans and mice lacking leptin (ob/ob) or leptin receptors (LepR) (db/db) (Donato et al., 2011a, Donato et al., 2011b). GnRH neurons do not express leptin receptors (Cunningham et al., 1999), which indicates involvement of intermediate circuits in the leptin-dependent modulation of GnRH neurons (Donato et al., 2011a).

Studies have shown that *ob/ob* mice have a decreased Kiss1 mRNA level in ARC, but not in AVPV, and an increased body weight (Smith et al., 2006a, Quennell et al., 2011). Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC and body weight were partly reversed by leptin treatment (Smith et al., 2006a) suggesting that other metabolic factors regulate *Kiss1* expression. Intriguingly, total hypothalamic Kiss1 mRNA levels were unchanged in *ob/ob* mice (Luque et al., 2007). Though, the discrepancy between the *ob/ob* studies could be due to differences in the hormonal milieu and a regional dilution in Luque et al. (2007). In accordance, a negative energy status, which is associated with a lower leptin level (Ahima, 2000, Luque et al., 2007) decreases hypothalamic Kiss1 mRNA levels (Castellano et al., 2005, Luque et al., 2007, Wahab et al., 2011). One study has shown that the regional decrease in Kiss1 mRNA, induced by a negative energy status, takes place in ARC and not in AVPV (Matsuzaki et al., 2011) which is in keeping with the data obtained in *ob/ob* mice (Smith et al., 2006a, Quennell et al., 2011).

ARC kisspeptin neurons appear to be a plausible candidate as an intermediate in the circuit that relays the body energy status via leptin to GnRH neurons. In order for ARC kisspeptin neurons to relay the leptin-signaling to GnRH neurons, they have to express *Lepr*. A subpopulation of the kisspeptin neurons have been found to express *Lepr* in male mice (Smith et al., 2006a) and ewes (Backholer et al., 2010). However, several other approaches, including the use of transgenic mice, were unable to confirm this (Louis et al., 2011). The latter supporting that kisspeptin constitute an indirect relay for leptin, agreeing with the fact that genetic deletion of *Lepr* from hypothalamic kisspeptin neurons in mice have no affect on puberty or fertility (Donato et al., 2011b).

Leptin seems only to account as a permissive factor in timing the reactivation of the HPG axis, which is exemplified by several observations. First, the level of leptin increases gradually during pubertal development, but no apparent increase occurs at puberty onset in humans (Ahmed et al., 2009), which is supported by longitudinal studies conducted in male monkeys (Plant and Barker-Gibb, 2004). Secondly, leptin administration to prepubertal monkeys (Barker-Gibb et al., 2002) and rats (Cheung et al., 1997) lack the ability to advance puberty onset. Third, kisspeptin's gonadotropin-releasing ability is preserved in condition of suppressed leptin signaling caused by fasting, endogenous leptin immunoneutralisation, and leptin resistance due to leptin receptor deficiency (Navarro et al., 2004b, Castellano et al., 2005).

The above data strongly support that the kisspeptin system is downstream to or eventually independent of leptin in the control of the HPG axis, and although adequate levels of leptin are permissive for a normal pubertal development and reproductive attainment, leptin is not sufficient to trigger puberty onset. This also supports that leptin is not the only factor implicated in the metabolic regulation of kisspeptin and GnRH neurons.

#### Ghrelin and neuropeptide Y

Ghrelin, a gut derived hormone signaling energy insufficiency promoting food intake, has been reported to be a negative regulator of gonadotropin secretion, and a regulator of puberty onset in male rats (Fernandez-Fernandez et al., 2005, Tena-Sempere, 2008). This coulkd be mediated by kisspeptin neurons, since ghrelin has been found to be a negative modulator of *Kiss1* expression in AVPV, but not in ARC (Forbes et al., 2009). Though, since ghrelin is a functional antagonist of leptin, it is possible that the observed change in *Kiss1* expression is mediated by leptin.

Another plausible factor is NPY, an orexigenic peptide that has been found to inhibit reproduction in sheep (Backholer et al., 2010). NPY seems to play a role in regulation of the HPG axis, but both inhibitory and excitatory effects of NPY have been reported depending on the stage of maturation and sex steroid milieu (Castellano et al., 2010). Fasting for 48hour, increased NPY expression in ARC, and decreased *Kiss1* expression in AVPV in female rats (Kalamatianos et al., 2008), implying that NPY is a negative modulator of *Kiss1* expression. A positive modulation of NPY on *Kiss1* expression has been reported in NPY deficient mice and *in vitro* (Luque et al., 2007). NPY, being a putative regulator of kisspeptin, could be implicated in a nutritional regulation of pubertal timing and reproductive capacity through kisspeptin. This idea is challenged since only a small number of NPY neurons in ARC projects to AVPV where the change in *Kiss1* expression occurs during fasting (Kalamatianos et al., 2008), and by the absence of overtly infertility in NPY deficient mice (Luque et al., 2007). It should be noted that GnRH neurons express NPY receptors (Pralong, 2010) making it possible that NPY modulates GnRH release independent of kisspeptin.

Whether nutritional induced changes in puberty onset and reproductive function are associated with changes in ghrelin, and/or NPY, and subsequently *Kiss1* expression, remains unexplored.

#### Nutritional effects on sex steroid levels and bioavailability

Obesity is associated with increased sex steroid levels (de Ridder et al., 1992, Barber et al., 2006, Dunger et al., 2006, Ahmed et al., 2009, Brill and Moenter, 2009), and increased bioavailability hereof due to a decreased level of sex-steroid binding protein (Ahmed et al., 2009). Obesity is also associated with an increased aromatase activity thereby facilitating the conversion of androgens to estrogens (de Ridder et al., 1992). Whether an increase in androgens or estrogens is implicated in the metabolic regulation of pubertal timing and reproductive capacity is not clear. One study has shown that the high-fat diet induced advancement of puberty onset, was reversed by an androgen receptor

antagonist, suggesting that the effect of a high-fat diet on puberty onset is partly due to an increased androgen action (Brill and Moenter, 2009). Hyperandrogenamia, which is the most consistent feature in PCOS, is strongly associated with reproductive dysfunction and increased BMI (Barber et al., 2006), supporting that androgens play a role in the metabolic control of the HPG axis. However, less is known about the mechanisms that relay the sex steroid modulation on the GnRH neurons, but since *Kiss1* expression in ARC and AVPV is under the control of sex steroids (Smith, 2009) it is possible that kisspeptin is a central conduit for the nutritional regulating effect of sex steroids on the HPG axis.

#### Neuronal programming of neuroendocrine networks involved in puberty and reproduction

An early nutritional challenge has been associated with changes in pubertal timing, indicating that developmental changes persist over the long term (Castellano et al., 2011). Recent evidence suggests that specification of the neuroendocrine circuits implicated in regulation of puberty onset and reproduction are sensitive to nutritional influences during the gestational and postnatal period (Hilakivi-Clarke et al., 1997, Parent et al., 2003, Castellano et al., 2005, Boukouvalas et al., 2008, Chang et al., 2008, Brill and Moenter, 2009, Lo et al., 2009, Sloboda et al., 2009, Boukouvalas et al., 2010, Moral et al., 2011). Most of the rodent studies addressing the role of early nutritional programming have focused on malnutrition during pregnancy and/or lactation, and only few have focused on a positive nutritional status. The studies have mainly been descriptive, and no underlying mechanism have been identified (Castellano et al., 2011).

#### Leptin-dependent projections from arcuate nucleus

AVPV and ARC kisspeptin neurons undergo neuroanatomical maturation during postnatal development as depicted in Figure 4. Also a functional activation of the kisspeptin-Kiss1 system occurs prior to puberty which includes a change in the number of close appositions between GnRH neurons and kisspeptin fibres which appear from PND25 onwards in mice (Clarkson and Herbison, 2006). This indicates that either new kisspeptin projections are formed or that kisspeptin synthesis in an existing fibre is initiated around PND25.

Developmental profiling of ARC projections have been studied in neonatal mice from PND6 to PND21. Adult like fibre distribution is attainted at PND18 in mice, and ARC projections to each of the periventricular nuclei in the hypothalamus is present at PND18 (Bouret et al., 2004a), in the same regions where ARC kisspeptin fibres were identified by Yeo and Herbison (2011). The postnatal profile revealed a neuroanatomical maturation of ARC projections. For instance, the ARC projections to POA appeared to be some of the last to reach their hypothalamic targets, and were first established between PND12 and 18 (Bouret et al., 2004a). The projections from ARC to AVPV developed rapidly and the adult like distribution was achieved by PND18 (Bouret et al., 2004a).

A surge of leptin occurs during the first week of life, but is not accompanied by a reduction in food intake. This has led to the hypothesis, that leptin is involved in developmental signaling (Bouret et al.,

2004b). A developmental profile of ARC projections have also been studied in *ob/ob* mice, which has revealed how important this perinatal leptin surge is for the formation of ARC projections (Bouret et al., 2004b). This is based on a dramatic decrease in ARC fiber density to all the terminal points in leptin deficient mice, which could only be reversed by exogenous leptin treatment from PND4 to 12, and not by adult leptin treatment (Bouret et al., 2004b). The same defect in ARC projections is seen in diet induced obese bred rats, which are known to be leptin resistant before they become obese (Bouret et al., 2008). *In vitro* studies with ARC explants from mice, show how leptin exposure induce the formation of neurites from ARC explants, suggesting that leptin acts on ARC to induce axon elongation and proliferation (Bouret et al., 2004b).

The overlapping distribution of ARC projections found by Bouret et al. (2004a) (Bouret et al., 2004a) and ARC kisspeptin projections identified by Yeo and Herbison (2011), strongly support that the ARC kisspeptin fibre projections undergo neuroanatomical maturation in a leptin-dependent manner in the postnatal period.

#### Aims

So far there has been limited data on the effects of a postnatal exposure to a high-fat diet on pubertal timing and estrous cyclicity in animal models, and the possible changes in the kisspeptinergic system have only been studied scarcely. This has become a matter of translational interest given the increasing incidence of obesity during childhood and adulthood believed to be associated with earlier puberty onset in girls (Kaplowitz, 2008, Ahmed et al., 2009) and reproductive dysfunction in women (Linne, 2004, Pasquali et al., 2007).

Therefore, the first aim of this thesis was to evaluate the effects of a high-fat-diet exposure in different postnatal periods, being lactation, post-weaning, or both periods, on pubertal timing, revealed by V.O., and to assess whether the kisspeptinergic system was involved in this. Changes in the kisspeptinergic system were evaluated by assessing changes in Kiss1 mRNA and kisspeptin-immunoreativity (kisspeptin-ir). This was done in order to define the critical window of exposure on pubertal timing and kisspeptin.

The second aim was to evaluate the effects of a high-fat-diet exposure from weaning and into early adulthood on estrous cyclicity in rats, and to evaluate if the kisspeptinergic system was affected.

Several peripheral signals implicated in the signalling of body energy status and hormones, some being possible modulators of *Kiss1* expression, were also evaluated both in the pubertal and adult rats. These include leptin, insulin, triglycerides, and estradiol.

The third aim was to evaluate Kiss1 mRNA and number of kisspeptin-ir cells at peri-puberty (PND 34) and in adulthood (PND61) in order to address the profile of the kisspeptinergic system in relation to the stage of pubertal maturation based on V.O. and from peri-puberty to early adulthood.

# Materials and Methods

# Animals

All animal experiments were carried out in accordance with the regulations provided by the Danish Animal Experimentation Inspectorate (J. No. 2007/561-1320), and treated in concordance with the European Communities Council Directive of 24th November 1986 (86/609ECC). Female Sprague-Dawley rats were purchased from Charles River (Charles River Laboratories International, Germany) at PND14 for experiment 1, 1B, and 4, and at gestation day 14 for experiment 2 and 3. Newborn litters in experiment 2 and 3 were corrected at PND1 so that litter size did not exceed 12pups per litter. The rats purchased at PND14 were divided upon arrival to obtain experimental groups balanced for body weight. All pups were weaned at PND21. Experiment 1, 1B, and 4 were carried out simultaneously, while experiment 2 and 3 were carried out simultaneously. All rats were housed in the animal facilities at Rigshospitalet, Copenhagen University Hospital (Rigshospitalet, Denmark), and acclimatized at least 7 days prior to the experiments. All rats were maintained under conditions of 12 hour light/dark (light on at 7:00am) with free access to water and test diet *ad libitum*.

#### Test diets

I this study, the effects of a postnatal high-fat diet exposure in different developmental periods on pubertal timing and estrous cycle regularity were evaluated in relation to changes in Kiss1 mRNA and kisspeptin levels. In house data shows that body weight gain and changes in kisspeptin, in adult male Wistar rats, were most pronounced with a diet containing 60% energy from fat in contrast to a diet with 45% energy from fat (unpublished data). Based on this, a diet with 60% energy from fat was chosen as the high-fat diet for the present experiments. The control diet and high-fat diet were purchased as pellets from TestDiet (TestDiet, USA), and stored at -20° degrees until used. The control diet (TestDiet® Formula 58Y2, USA) contained 4.3% fat by weight corresponding to 10% energy from fat (see Appendix I for details). The high-fat diet (TestDiet® Formula 58Y1, USA) contained 34.9% fat by weight corresponding to 60.9% energy from fat (see Appendix II for details). The control and high-fat diet were balanced so an equal amount of calories leads to the same amount of ingested protein, fiber, and micronutrients.

Test diet		· -	Control diet	High-fat diet
Fat	% fat by weight		4.3	34.9
	% energy <sup>1</sup>		10.2	60.9
	Fat (% energy from the	Soybean oil	56.56	9.25
	different types of fat)	Lard	44.44	90.75
Protein	% energy		18.3	18.3
Carbohydrate	% energy		71.5	20.1
Kilocalories/g			3.78	5.16

Table 1. The nutritional profile of the control and high-fat diet from Test-Diet (see Appendix I and II).

<sup>1</sup>% of total energy based on amount of kcal/g.

# Experimental designs

# The effect of a postnatal high-fat diet, in different postnatal periods, on puberty onset and the kisspeptinergic system

Female Sprague-Dawley rats were fed a high-fat diet or a control diet in three different postnatal periods (Figure 8). A previous study, using small litter size as a model of overfeeding, has shown that at PND34 all overfed female Wistar rats, had entered puberty in contrast to approximately 45% of the normal fed rats (Castellano et al., 2011). Based on this study, it was chosen to sacrifice all animals in experiment 1, 2, and 3 at PND34 in order to obtain maximal differences in pubertal timing and Kiss1 mRNA and in the number of kisspeptin cells between the groups. In experiment 1B, all animals were weighted and inspected for puberty onset daily. In contrast to experiment 1, 2, and 3, they continued with the test diet and were included in experiment 4, where the effect of a high-fat diet on estrous cyclicity was evaluated.

Experiment 1: HFD PND21-34

#### Experiment 1B: HFD PND21-puberty

#### Experiment 2: HFD PND1-16

#### Experiment 3: HFD PND1-34



Figure 8. Illustration of the postnatal high-fat diet exposure periods conducted in female rats in respect to pubertal timing. The black filling represents the period where the rats were exposed to the high-fat diet, whereas the white filling represents the control diet period.

#### Experiment 1 – post-weaning high-fat diet exposure

In experiment 1, the effects of a post-weaning high-fat diet exposure on pubertal timing and the kisspeptinergic system were evaluated in rats fed either the control diet or the high-fat diet from weaning until PND34 (n=20). This group is denoted high-fat diet (HFD) PND21-34. Before weaning, all rats were fed the standard chow with 10% of the energy from fat. The rats were given identity mark at PND21, and body weight was assessed from PND21 and twice a week. V.O. defined as complete canalization of the vagina, which is an external physical sign of puberty (Navarro et al., 2004b), was inspected every morning from PND30 to 34 in which the body weights were noted as well. At PND34 after inspecting V.O., the pups were either decapitated (n=12) or transcardially perfused (n=8) in the morning, and trunk and heart blood, respectively, were collected in order to measure the levels of leptin, insulin, triglycerides, and estradiol in the plasma (see *Hormone and metabolic factor measurements* for further details). Brains removed from the decapitated rats, were used to measure

Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC and AVPV by quantitative real-time PCR (qRT-PCR) (see *RNA analysis by qRT-PCR* for further details). Brains from transcardially perfused rats were used to determine the total number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC and AVPV by immunohistochemistry (IHC) which is described in more details in *Immunohistochemistry*.

# Experiment 1B – post-weaning high-fat diet exposure

In experiment 1B, exposure to a high-fat diet from PND21 to puberty was carried out to evaluate the effect on body weight and V.O. The rats were fed the control or high-fat diet from weaning until puberty (n=24). This group is denoted HFD PND21-puberty. Before weaning, all rats were fed the standard chow. Body weight was noted from PND21 and twice a week, and both body weight and V.O. were inspected every morning from PND30 until all animals had entered puberty which occurred no later than PND37. The rats were not sacrificed at PND34, but continued with the respective test diet until adulthood, and were used in experiment 4.

# Experiment 2 - postnatal high-fat diet exposure during lactation

In experiment 2, the effects of a high-fat diet exposure through lactation on pubertal timing and *Kiss1* expression were evaluated. This was done by feeding the dams the control diet (litter n=6, and pups n=27), or the high-fat diet (litter n=3, and pups n=12) during lactation from PND1 to 16, based on the fact, that pups begin to eat pellets around PND17. At PND17 the diet was switched to the control diet. This group is denoted HFD PND1-16. The rats were given identity mark at PND21, and body weight was assessed from PND7 and weekly until PND28. Both body weight and V.O. were inspected every morning from PND30 to 34 were the pups were decapitated in the morning after inspecting signs of V.O.. Trunk blood was collected to conduct the same measurements in the plasma as for experiment 1, and brains were collected in order to measure Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC and AVPV.

# Experiment 3 – postnatal high-fat diet from birth to puberty

In experiment 3, the effects of high-fat diet exposure from PND1 to 34 on pubertal timing and *Kiss1* expression were evaluated. This was done by feeding dams the control diet (litter n=6, and 27 pups), or the high-fat diet (litter n=3, and 16 pups) during lactation from PND1 until weaning, and by continuing with the same diet after weaning until PND34. This experimental group is denoted HFD PND1-34. Note, that the control group in experiment 3 is the same as in experiment 2 since the two experiments were carried out simultaneously. Bodyweight was assessed from PND7 and once weekly until PND28 and marked with an ID on PND21. Body weight and V.O. were assessed every morning from PND30 to 34 were the pups were decapitated in the morning, after inspecting signs of V.O.. Trunk blood and brains were collected in order to measure leptin, insulin, triglyceride, and estradiol levels in the plasma, and Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC and AVPV.

# Experiment 4 – high-fat diet from weaning and to early adulthood

In experiment 4, the effects of a high-fat diet exposure from weaning and for 40 days on estrous cycle regularity and the kisspeptinergic system were evaluated. This was carried out by feeding the rats either a control diet or the high-fat diet from PND21 and for 40 days. Body weight was noted from PND21 twice a week and weekly from PND40 to 61. Vaginal smears were taken every morning between 8am and 9am, as described by Goldman et al. (2007). The smears were collected from PND50 and for 10 consecutive days, and continued until two days of diestrous were occurring in a row for the first time. This occurred between PND61 and 68. The hematoxylin and eosin y (H&E) staining method was applied to identify the different cell types in the smear, in order to determine the estrous cycle stages (see *Estrous cycle* for further details). The rats were sacrificed on the second day of diestrous the first time it occurred after PND60. Half of the rats were decapitated in order to conduct qRT-PCR to determine the Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC and AVPV. The other half of the rats were transcardially perfused in order to conduct IHC to determine kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC and AVPV. Trunk blood and heart blood, respectively, were collected in order to measure the levels of leptin, insulin, triglycerides, and estradiol in the plasma.

# Developmental changes in the kisspeptin system at peri-puberty and to early adulthood

Experiment 1 and 4 were conducted simultaneously and rats from experiment 1 and 4 were used to evaluate the profile of the kisspeptinergic system at PND34 in relation to the stage of pubertal maturation in regard to V.O., and from peri-puberty to early adulthood. The rats, were sacrificed at PND34 (experiment 1, both control and high-fat fed rats) and between PND61 and 67 (experiment 4, only control fed rats) in the diestrous phase. The rats were either decapitated (n=12) or transcardially perfused (n=8-12), and Kiss1 mRNA and kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC and AVPV were determined with qRT-PCR and IHC, respectively.

# Hormone and metabolic factor measurements

Trunk blood from decapitated rats and heart blood from transcardially perfused rats was collected, and centrifuged 10 minutes at 2,000rpm (experiment 1 and 4) or 4,000rpm (experiment 2 and 3) at 4°C. A white layer upon the plasma was present in several of the plasma samples from the high-fat fed rats after centrifugation, regardless whether the blood was centrifuged at 2,000 or 4,000rpm. Only the plasma, not the white layer, was collected, and stored at -20°C until use. All samples from each experiment were assayed simultaneously, and intra- and inter assay variations were calculated.

#### Leptin

The level of leptin was determined with a sandwich ELISA assay (90040, Crystal Chem USA) according to the manufacturer's instruction. In brief, all plasma samples and guinea pig anti-leptin antibody were applied to the 96-well plate coated with anti-leptin antibody. Sample leptin binds simultaneously to the coated plate and to guinea pig anti-leptin antibody. After 16-20 hour incubation at 4°C, all unbound antibodies were removed by washing. Next, samples were incubated with horse radish peroxidase conjugated to anti-guinea pig IgG for 3 hours at 4°C, and excess of enzyme was removed by washing. 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB), which is converted to a coloured product by horse radish periosidase, was applied for 30 minutes, and the product was measured spectrophotometrically on a microplate reader model 680 (BioRad, USA) at 450nm using 655nm as reference (Figure 9). The leptin levels were determined from a standard curve. The sensitivity range for the assay is 0.2 - 12.8ng/mL, and no samples were ranging outside.



Figure 9. Plasma leptin determination by sandwich ELISA assay. Sample leptin binds to the anti-leptin antibody coated plate and is coupled to horse radish peroxidise through guinea pig anti-leptin antibody and anti-guinea pig IgG. Horse radish peroxidise converts 3,3',5,5'-tetramethylbenzidine (TMB) to a coloured product which is measured spectrophotometrically and an indirect measurement of the level of leptin in the sample. See text for details.

#### Insulin

Insulin levels were determined with a sandwich ELISA assay (10-1250-01, Mercodia, Sweden) using a similar method as for the leptin ELISA assay described above. However, the horse radish peroxidise conjugated to mouse anti-insulin is bound directly to the sample insulin in one step. The procedure provided by the manufacturer was followed, and the level of insulin was determined from a standard curve. Sensitivity range is  $0.15 - 450 \mu g/L$ , and no samples were ranging outside and excluded.

# Triglyceride

Triglyceride levels were determined by an enzymatic cleavage kit (TR0100, Sigma-Aldrich, USA) according to the instructions provided by the manufacturer. Triglycerides do not circulate freely in the

blood, but are transported in lipoproteins. The method detects the triglyceride levels by an enzymatic cleavage of triglycerides in lipoproteins to glycerol and free fatty acids. Glycerol is further degraded in several enzymatic steps to a final product, a quinoneimine dye, which can be measured spectrophotometrically at 540nm. The quinoneimine dye corresponds to the initial triglycerides levels in the sample, and triglyceride levels were determined by the use of a standard curve. The sensitivity range for the kit is up to 10mg/mL, and no samples were excluded based on this. Though, it should be noted that the white layer on the plasma present after centrifugation of the blood was not included in the plasma. It is possible that lipoproteins were present in the white layer thus leading to an inaccurate triglyceride determination in the plasma samples.

# Estradiol

Estradiol-17β levels, termed estradiol here, were determined by a radioimmunoassay kit (coat-a-count TKE21, Siemens Medical Solution Diagnostics, USA) according to the instructions provided by the manufacturer. The method is based on the competitive binding of <sup>125</sup>I-labeled estradiol and sample estradiol to estradiol antibody coated tubes. In brief, all samples, including the standards, were added to the estradiol antibody coated tubes along with <sup>125</sup>I-labeled estradiol, and incubated 3 hours at room temperature. After the incubation time, all liquid was decanted, and tubes were turned upside down and dried over night. The bound <sup>125</sup>I-labeled estradiol was measured with a Cobra™ II Auto-Gamma counter (Perkin-Elmer, USA) for 1 minute. The gamma counts are inversely related to the level of free estradiol in the sample, and the level of estradiol was determined from a standard curve. The sensitivity range for the kit is from 8pg/mL, and no samples were excluded based on this.

# RNA analysis by qRT-PCR

# The principle of qRT-PCR

qRT-PCR is a sensitive technique using a fluorescent reporter molecule to detect the level of complementary single stranded DNA (cDNA), and thereby gene expression levels. Before conducting qRT-PCR, total RNA is extracted from isolated tissue, and mRNA is reverse transcribed into cDNA. The fluorescence technique applied was 2x Brilliant II SYBR® Green qPCR Master Mix (Agilent Technologies, USA) where SYBR® Green is the fluorescent reporter molecule.

#### RNA extraction

Rats were decapitated and brains were removed instantly. ARC was isolated from the fresh brain with a small forceps by tweezing the forceps around the hypothalamic outpouching. ARC and brains were flash frozen on dry ice. AVPV, corresponding to RV3P, was isolated by cutting the frozen brains around the AVPV from Bregma 0.48 to -0.80 on a HM500 OM cryostat (Microm, Germany) like illustrated in Figure 10. The tissues were kept at –80° C until RNA extraction.


Figure 10. Isolation of the anteroventral periventricular nucleus (AVPV) for total RNA extraction. AVPV was isolated by cutting around AVPV from Bregma 0.48 to -0.80, corresponding to figure 16 to 21 in Paxinos and Watson (1986) on a cryostat.

The tissue for RNA extraction was kept on wet ice to avoid RNase degradation until the addition of TRIzol® reagent, which maintains the integrity of the RNA. The tissue was transferred to homogenization tubes, and 1mL of TRIzol (Tri-Reagent®, Sigma-Aldrich,USA) and a steel bead were added. The tissue was beaten 2 minutes on a mini-beadbeater (Biospec, USA) in order to homogenize the tissue. The homogenized tissue was kept at room temperature for 15 minutes, in which the tubes were inverted twice. The homogenized tissue was then transferred to SafeLock tubes, and 200µL chloroform (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) was applied. Chloroform denatures proteins so they become soluble

in the organic phase, while nucleic acids remain in the aqueous phase. Samples were mixed gently by inversion for 15 seconds, and left at room temperature, approximately 2-3 minutes, until the two phases were separated. Then, the tubes were centrifuged at 12,000rpm for 10 minutes at 4°C to enhance the separation. The clear water phase, containing the RNA, was transferred to new tubes, and an equal amount isopropanol was added to precipitate the RNA. The tubes were turned upside down 50 times, and incubated 15 minutes at room temperature, after which they were centrifuged like previously. Supernatant was discharged, and the pellet, containing the RNA, was dissolved in 1mL 70% EtOH, shaken, and centrifuged at 12,000rpm for 30 minutes at 4° C. The supernatant was discharged, and the pellet containing the RNA, was air dried. Next,  $100\mu L \frac{1}{2}x$  Tris-EDTA buffer (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) was added, and the samples were mixed and spun down before they were incubated for 10 minutes on wet ice in order to dissolve the RNA. The concentration of RNA was measured on a nanodrop spectophotomter ND-1000 (Saveen Werner, Sweden), and the extracted RNA was kept at  $-80^{\circ}C$  until the reverse transcriptase was conducted.

### Reverse transcriptase of mRNA to cDNA

The extracted RNA was transcribed to single stranded cDNA by the use of the ImProm-II<sup>™</sup> Reverse Transcription System (Promega, WI, USA) according to the instructions. Extracted total RNA, approximately 0.5µg, was mixed with Oligo(dT)<sub>15</sub> (0.5µg/reaction) and incubated at 70°C for 5 minutes, and placed on ice. A mix containing Nuclease-free water, ImProm-II<sup>™</sup> 5X Reaction buffer, 6mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, dNTP mix (final concentration of 0.5mM of each dNTP), Recombinant RNasin® Ribonuclease Inhibitor, and ImProm-II<sup>™</sup> Reverse Transcriptase were combined according to the instructions, and added to the tubes. Subsequently, the mix was spun down, incubated 5 minutes at 25°C to enable the binding of Oligo(dT)<sub>15</sub> to the poly-A tail of the mRNA, and then incubated one hour at 42°C to reverse transcribe cDNA. Finally, samples were heated to 70°C for 15 minutes to inactivate the reverse transcriptase. The cDNA was diluted in 80µL ½x Tris-EDTA-buffer, and stored at -80°C.

## Oligonucleotide primers for qRT-PCR

In this study, the expression levels of *Kiss1* were investigated. The expression level of the housekeeping gene *GAPDH*, encoding glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase, was used as a reference gene, in order to normalize for differences in RNA concentrations e.g. due to variations in starting amount and RNA integrity. See

Table 2 for details on the primers used.

Gene	Primer*	Oligonucleotide-primer sequence 5'-3'	Length (base pairs)	Reference
<i>Kiss1</i> <sup>1,3</sup>	F	5'-AGC TGC TGC TTC TCC TCT GT-3'	139	Modified from Luque
	R	5'-GCA TAC CGC GGG CCC CCC TTT T-3'		et al. (2007)

#### Table 2. Oligonucleotide primers used for qRT-PCR amplification of Kiss1 and GAPDH

<i>Kiss1</i> <sup>2,3</sup>	F	5'-TGG CAC CTG TGG TGA ACC CTG AAC-3'	202	Navarro et al.
	R	5'-ATC AGG CGA CTG CGG GTG GCA CAC-3'		(2004a)
GAPDH	F	5'-CAT CAA GAA GGT GGT GAA GCA-3'	93	El-Sayed et al. (2011)
	R	5'-CTG TTG AAG TCA CAG GAG ACA-3'		

\*F: forward primer, R: reverse primer, <sup>1</sup>used in experiment 1, 3, and 4, <sup>2</sup>used in experiment 2. <sup>3</sup>primer pairs span an intron.

#### The procedure for qRT-PCR

The qRT-PCR reaction was conducted following the protocol from the manufacturer with small modifications. In short, 5 µL of cDNA sample, 10µL mastermix containing SYBR® Green (Agilent Technologies, USA), and 15pmol of the reverse and forward primer for the cDNA template of interest (Kiss1 and GAPDH) were combined on ice. Distilled water was added to a final volume of 20µL. The 96-well plate was sealed, mixed, and centrifuged to collect all the reagents in the bottom. The qRT-PCR was performed on a LightCycler® 480 Real-Time PCR System (Roche, USA). The qRT-PCR was initiated by heating samples to 94°C for 10 minutes to activate hot-start *Taq* DNA polymerase followed by 40 PCR cycles of 94°C for 30 seconds to denature dsDNA, 60°C annealing for 45 seconds, and 72°C for elongation for 90 seconds. Melting curve for the amplicon was determined by continuously increasing the temperature from 50°C to 94°C to ensure homogeneity of the PCR product.

#### Dataanalysis

Data obtained from qRT-PCR reflects the number of cycles run before the exponential amplification phase occurs. The number of cycles is denoted the threshold cycles (Ct), and Ct is a measure for when the fluorescence intensity is significantly higher than the background. The Ct value reflects the initial level of the cDNA sequence of interest, and Ct is inversely related to the amount of amplicon. This means that higher initial levels of cDNA will need fewer cycles than samples with less cDNA to reach Ct. The default Ct settings for the LightCycler® 480 Real-Time PCR System was used in the present study. The fold change in expression levels were calculated by applying the comparative Ct method, described previously (Schmittgen and Livak, 2008), and normalized using the level of *GAPDH* mRNA as internal control gene as described before (El-Sayed et al., 2011). Fold change in expression within the samples Ct from the sample with lowest Ct by using the following equation:

Fold change (within gene of interest or internal control gene) =  $E^{(Ct \ lowest-Ct \ sample)}$ 

Where E = efficiency = 100% = 2, Ct lowest = lowest Ct value within the group of samples to compare for the given gene, Ct sample = Ct value for each sample.

Fold change for the gene of interest was related to the internal control gene by using the following equation:

Fold change =  $\frac{E^{(Ct \ lowest-Ct \ sample)}}{E^{(Ct \ lowest \ GAPDH-Ct \ sample \ GAPDH)}}$ 

Finally, the mean fold change in gene expression for the samples was related to the vehicle mean fold change in gene expression in order to see any change in the basal level of gene expression between groups.

## Immunohistochemistry

## The principle of immunohistochemistry

IHC is a method that enables detection of an antigen, e.g. peptide or protein, in fixated tissue by using antibodies directed against the given antigen. This allows detection of antigen-expressing neurons in particular brain regions. Staining of the cytoplasmic peptide kisspeptin was accomplished by using the so-called avidin-biotin complex method on free floating sections using 3,3'-Diaminobenzidine (DAB) as the peroxidase chromogen. For this method, avidin and biotin complexes to amplify the staining intensity thereby increasing the sensitivity. To stain kisspeptin, unlabeled primary antibody directed against kisspeptin is applied on the free floating sections, after which biotinylated secondary antibody directed against the Fc-part of the primary antibody is added. The avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex is applied, and binds to the biotinylated secondary antibody. Since avidin displays tetravalent affinity for biotin, it couples peroxidase to the biotinylated secondary antibody, whereby peroxidase comes into close proximity to the antigen. The chromogen DAB is converted by peroxidase to brownish precipitates in the presence of hydrogen peroxide (H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>), and thereby stains the kisspeptin-containing cell compartment.

## Preparation of tissue for immunohistochemistry

Anesthetized rats were transcardially perfused with isotonic saline (0.9% saline) until all blood was flushed, followed by perfusion with 4% paraformaldehyde in phosphate buffer with a pH=7.4 (Apoteket Rigshospitalet, Denmark) in order to fixate the tissue. Brains were collected and post fixated over night in 4% paraformaldehyde after which they were moved to 0.05M phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (Gibco-Invitrogen, New Zealand), and stored at 4°C. Brains were dehydrated in 30% sucrose (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) in PBS three days prior to cutting. The brains were frozen and cut on a sliding freezing stage microtome (Bright Series 8000, firma Bright?) in 4 coronal sets in sections of 40 $\mu$ m thickness, and kept in cryoprotectant at –20°C until the IHC was conducted. All groups of animals were cut in random order, and given an IHC ID number, blinding all the following steps and the quantification. All groups of animals were processed simultaneously, and one set of sections were used for each animal.

## The immunohistochemistry procedure

First, the sections were rinsed 3x10 minutes in PBS, to remove the cryoprotectant, and then incubated with 1% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in PBS (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) for 10 minutes to block endogenous peroxidase. To block

nonspecific binding, the sections were then incubated 20 minutes in 5% normal swine serum in PBS with 1% bovine serum albumin (BSA) (Sigma-Aldrich, USA), and 0.3% Triton® X-100 (TX) (Merck, Germany), where TX is a detergent that permeabilizes the cell membrane. Subsequently, the sections were incubated in antiserum against kisspeptin (JLV-1) for 24 hours at 4°C. The polyclonal antiserum JLV-1, directed against the long form of rat kisspeptin which is 52 amino acids, was used at 1:200 in 1% BSA and 0.3% TX in PBS. After incubation in antiserum, the sections were rinsed 3x10 minutes in PBS with 0.1% TX, in order to remove the antiserum. Sections were then incubated for 60 minutes in biotinylated donkey anti-rabbit (Jackson ImmunoResearch, USA) diluted 1:1000 with 1% BSA and 0.3% TX in PBS. After another rinse in PBS with 0.1% TX for 3x10 minutes, the sections were incubated 60 minutes in a solution containing avidin-biotin-peroxidase complex (Vectastain ABC kit, Vector laboratories, USA) in PBS with 0.1% TX. Next, sections were rinsed for 10 minutes in PBS with 0.1% TX, 10 minutes in PBS, and subsequently 10 minutes in Tris-HCl (pH=7.6). Staining was carried out for 10 minutes using 0.1% DAB (Sigma-Aldrich, MO, USA) with 0.03% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub> in Tris-HCl resulting in a brownish precipitate in the cytoplasma. Finally, the sections were rinsed 5x6 minutes in PBS. The rinsed brain sections were mounted in 0.5% gelatine and 0.05% chromalum on gelatinised glass slides, dried, embedded in pertex (Histolab, Gothenburg, Sweden), and covered with glass slides.

#### Dataanalysis

The total number of kisspeptin-ir cells in AVPV and ARC were counted within the full extension of the respective regions in one series of sections under a light microscope using 10x and 40x objective lenses. The kisspeptin-ir cells were counted in the antero-posterior level in AVPV and ARC corresponding to Bregma -0.26mm to -0.80mm and Bregma -2.12mm to -4.52, respectively (Paxinos and Watson, 1986). Also, optical density (OD) was measured in AVPV using the software Image J (NIH, US), in order to determine the total level of kisspeptin-immunoreactivity in AVPV both including the soma and fibres. OD was measured on 2 brain sections corresponding to the early and late part of AVPV, and on both sides of the hemisphere, and the individual backgrounds were subtracted from each measurement. OD measurements were carried out on images taken with a light microscope (Axioskop2 plus, Zeiss, USA) using a 10x objective lens, and all images were taken simultaneously under the same conditions. OD is inversely related to kisspeptin-ir, and 1/mean OD was calculated for each animal.

## Estrous cycle regularity

### Evaluation of vaginal cytology and the estrous cycle

Progression through the estrous cycle can be identified by the presence of different cell types, and the distribution hereof, which corresponds to the status of the vaginal mucosa, uterus, and ovaries (Goldman et al., 2007). The H&E staining procedure is a method used to stain the nucleus and

cytoplasma, respectively, allowing the identification of different cell types. Hematoxylin stains the nuclei bluish or purplish since it is a basic dye, whereas eosin y stains the cytoplasma redish or pink since it is an acidic dye (MERCK, 2004). The stained vaginal smears were inspected under a light microscope. A predominance of round nucleated epithelial cells were considered as proestrous and denoted P, and a predominance of cornified a-nucleated epithelial cells was considered as estrous and denoted E. No distinction was made between diestrous 1 and 2 where leukocytes were present. If a proestrous smear contained a fewer number of cornified a-nucleated epithelial cells it were denoted Pe, with the dominating phase in capital letters (Figure 11) (Marcondes et al., 2002, Goldman et al., 2007).

Proestrous

Estrous

Diestrous



Figure 11. The phases of the estrous cycle after hematoxylin and eosin Y staining. Round nucleated epithelial cells are stained bluish or purplish in the nuclei, whereas the leukocytes will become even darker. The cornified a-nucleated epithelial cells will be stained pink. See text for details.

#### Preparation of vaginal smears

Vaginal smears taken early in the day or late in the afternoon will reflect the transition between the two consecutive phases. Therefore, it is important to take the samples the same time every day (Marcondes et al., 2002, Goldman et al., 2007). Vaginal smears were taken every morning between 8am and 9am, as described in Goldman et al. 2007. The smears were taken from PND50 and for 10 consecutive days, and continued until two consecutive days of diestrous were present. A clean cotton bud, moistened in isotonic saline, was inserted into the vaginal orifice, not deeper than 1 cm, and rotated. The cotton bud was then rolled on a glass slide to transfer the cells to the slide. New cotton

buds were used for each animal to avoid cross contamination of cells between animals. The glass slide with vaginal cells was dried after which the H&E staining was conducted.

## H&E staining procedure

The dried glass slides were placed in hematoxylin solution Gill N°1 (Sigma-Aldrich, USA), for 3 minutes, and immersed 2 times in 0.3% HCl in 70% EtOH in order to decolorize the cytoplasma and remove excess dye from chromatin. Next, the slides were rinsed with running tap water for 1 minute, placed in eosin y solution aqueous 0.5% (Sigma-Aldrich, USA) for 3 minutes, rinsed in tap water for 30 seconds, and dehydrated by EtOH by placing them for 1 minute in 70% EtOH, 96% EtOH, and finally in 99.9% EtOH, respectively. The dehydrated glass slides were dried, embedded in pertex, coverslipped, and inspected under bright light microscope, where the phase of the estorus cycle was noted as described in *Evaluation of vaginal cytology and the estrous cycle*, without knowing the animal ID.

## Data analysis of estrous cyclicity

The estrous cycle was dichotomized into a regular or irregular estrous cycle according to a modification of the classification described in Goldman et al. (2007). The estrous cycle was considered regular when it consisted of 1-2 days of E, 2-3 days of D<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>, and 1-2 days proestrous, whereas an irregular estrous cycle was considered to consist of 3-4 days E, 4-5 days D<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>, or 2-3 days P. An animal with one period or more corresponding to the characterization of an irregular cycle was noted to have an extended estrous cycle.

## Presentation of data and statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were carried out using GraphPad Prism version 5.04 (GraphPad software, CA, USA). In experiment 2 and 3, the rats were siblings. Since the genetic background has an impact on pubertal timing (Maisonet et al., 2010), the genetic component was taken into consideration by using mean values per litter for statistical analysis (n=number of litters) unless otherwise states.

The impact of a high-fat diet exposure in different developmental periods on body weight was tested using Two-Way ANOVA with diet and time as independent factors. If a significant effect of main factors were found, Bonferroni multiple comparisons corrections were applied to correct for multiple comparisons, and to test for differences between subgroups. Weight gain in the test diet periods were tested by two-tailed unpaired student's t-test. It should be noted that body weights at PND16 was not available for HFD PND1-16, therefore body weights at PND18 were used instead. HFD PND1-34 was not weighed before PND 7 meaning that the weight gain is from PND7 to 34. The effect of high-fat diet exposure on pubertal timing was tested by the Log-rank. As for experiment 2 and 3, data for the pups, and not litters were included. The effects of the high-fat diet exposure on leptin, insulin, triglycerides, estradiol, and Kiss1 mRNA levels, and the total number of kisspeptin-ir cells were compared using two-tailed unpaired student's t-test in all experiments, except in experiment 4 where a One-Way ANOVA with a Dunnet's post hoc test was applied. The effect of a high-fat diet exposure on estrous

cycle regularity was tested by 2x2 contingency tables with Fischer's exact test. Correlation analyses were carried out by Pearson's correlations assuming Gaussian distribution of all the given parameters tested. Correlation analysis of data obtained in experiment 2 and 3 were based on data for the pups, and not per litter.

All data is presented as mean ± standard error mean (SEM) unless otherwise states, and P<0.05 was considered statistically significant.

## Results

## Developmental changes in the kisspeptin system

#### The number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC increases at puberty onset

Kiss1 mRNA levels as well as the number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC and AVPV were determined at PND34, in prepubertal rats (without V.O.) and in pubertal rats (with V.O.). This was done to evaluate changes in the kisspeptinergic system at peri-puberty in relation to the stage of pubertal maturation. At PND34, approximately 50% of the rats had V.O. and based on these animals, a positive correlation



Figure 12B). No correlations were present between the day V.O. occurred and Kiss1 mRNA in ARC at PND34



Figure 12A) or between the day V.O. occurred and the number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC or AVPV at PND34 (data not shown).



Figure 12. Correlation between the day vaginal opening (V.O.) occurred and Kiss1 mRNA levels at postnatal day 34 in (A) arcuate nucleus (ARC) and the (B) anteroventral periventricular nucleus (AVPV). There was no correlation in ARC, but a positive correlation in AVPV. \*P<0.05, R<sup>2</sup>=0,46, Pearson's correlations (n=12).

As shown in Figure 13C, the number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC increased at PND34 in rats with V.O., whereas no change occurred in AVPV in rats with V.O. (Figure 13D). The number of kisspeptin-ir cells in AVPV both before and after V.O. were very low, and to estimate the total level of kisspeptin-ir in the soma and fibres in AVPV, OD measurements were performed. No difference in total kisspeptin-ir, revealed by OD, was present in AVPV at PND34 in rats with V.O. (Figure 13F). Neither, were a developmental change in Kiss1 mRNA levels at PND34 in either ARC or AVPV detected in rats with V.O. (Figure 13A and B).



Figure 13. Developmental changes in Kiss1 mRNA and kisspeptin-immunoreactivity at postnatal day (PND) 34 in arcuate nucleus (ARC) and anteroventral periventricular nucleus (AVPV) in prepubertal (No V.O.) and pubertal rats (V.O) at postnatal. Kiss1 mRNA were determined by qRT-PCR at PND34, and depicted as fold change in relation to the control, in ARC (A) and AVPV (B). Kisspeptin-immunoreactivity (kisspeptin-ir) was determined at PND34 by IHC with JLV-1 1:200, as the total number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC (C) and AVPV (D), and also as the optical density (OD) in AVPV (F). (E) A representative illustration of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC in a female rat with V.O.. Bars represent mean ± SEM (n=8). \*\*\*P<0.001 with unpaired student's t-test.

## Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC and AVPV as well as the number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC increases from PND34 to early adulthood

Developmental changes in the kisspeptin system in ARC and AVPV from peri-puberty to early adulthood, were evaluated by comparing PND34 rats with approximately PND61 rats in the diestrous phase. Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC, and the total number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC, increased from PND34 to 61 (Figure 14A and B). Also, Kiss1 mRNA levels in AVPV increased from PND34 to 61 (Figure 14C). In contrast, no developmental change in the number of kisspeptin-ir cells in AVPV was

present (Figure 14D), neither when assessed by OD measurement (data not shown). It should be noted, that only around 50% of the rats had V.O. at PND34. However, only a change in the number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC at PND34 occurred upon V.O..



Figure 14. Developmental changes in *Kiss1* mRNA and kisspeptin-immunoreactivity in arcuate nucleus (ARC) and anteroventral periventricular nucleus (AVPV) from postnatal day (PND) 34 to PND61. Kiss1 mRNA were determined by qRT-PCR at PND34 and apriximately PND61, and depicted as fold change in relation to the control, in ARC (A) and AVPV (B). The number of kisspeptin-immunoreactive (kisspeptin-ir) cells was determined by IHC with JLV-1 1:200 at PND34 and approximately PND61 in ARC (C) and AVPV (D). A representative illustration of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC (E) and AVPV (F) at PND61. Bars represent mean ± SEM (n=8). \*P<0.05, \*\*\*P<0.001 with unpaired student's t-test.

# The impact of a postnatal high-fat diet in different developmental periods on pubertal timing and the kisspeptinergic system

Experiment 1 – Post-weaning high-fat diet exposure

### Exposure to a post-weaning high-fat diet has no effect on puberty onset

Exposure to a high-fat diet from PND21 to 34 (HFD PND21-34) was carried out to evaluate the effects on body weight and puberty onset. As shown in Figure 15A, a post-weaning high-fat diet exposure caused a minor increase in body weights at PND31, 32, and 33 in HFD PND21-34, when compared to rats fed a control diet. Furthermore, an increased weight gain from PND21 to 34 was present in the high-fat diet group (data not shown). HFD PND21-34 rats displayed a slightly earlier puberty onset since 60% had V.O. at PND34 in contrast to 45% of the control fed rats at PND34, but no statistically significant change was present (Figure 15B). There was no positive correlation between V.O. and weight gain from PND21 to 34 in the control or HFD PND21-34 group (Figure 15C). Also, no difference in body weight at V.O. was present in HFD PND21-34 when compared to the control fed rats (Figure 15D).



Figure 15. Body weight and vaginal opening (V.O.) in rats exposed to a high-fat diet from postnatal day (PND) 21 to 34. (A) Body weight. \*P<0.05, \*\*P=0.01, Two-Way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni multiple comparisons corrections. (B) Puberty onset assessed by V.O.. Graph represents the fraction of animals with V.O. the given day (n=20). (C) Correlation between V.O. and weight gain from PND21 to 34 (n=9-12). (D) Body weight at V.O. Points in A and bars in D represent mean ± SEM (n=20).

### Exposure to post-weaning high-fat diet has no effect on leptin, triglyceride, insulin, and estradiol levels

The plasma levels of leptin, triglyceride, and insulin, which are all energy sensitive parameters, were assessed at PND34 in order to evaluate any effect of a post-weaning high-fat diet exposure. No significant changes were found in leptin, triglyceride, or insulin levels between HFD PND21-34 and control rats (Figure 16A, B and C). There were a positive correlation between body weight at PND34 and both leptin and insulin at PND34, whereas no correlation was present between body weight and triglyceride levels at PND34 (data not shown). Also, estradiol plasma levels were measured at PND34, but the fat-rich diet from weaning onwards had no impact on estradiol levels (Figure 16D). No difference in estradiol levels, between prepubertal rats (without V.O.) and pubertal rats (with V.O.) at PND34, were present (data not shown).



Figure 16. Leptin, triglyceride, insulin, and estradiol plasma levels at postnatal day (PND) 34 in rats exposed to a high-fat diet from PND21 to 34. (A) Leptin, (B) triglyceride, (C) insulin, and (D) estradiol plasma levels at PND34. Bars represent mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=20).

### Kiss1 mRNA and kisspeptin levels in the hypothalamus are not affected by a post-weaning high-fat diet

Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC and AVPV were determined at PND34 by qRT-PCR to evaluate the effect of a post-weaning high-fat diet exposure. No changes in Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC or AVPV were present in HFD PND21-34 (Figure 17A and B). The number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC and AVPV, at PND34 in HFD PND21-34 and controls, were evaluated by IHC. Exposure to a post-weaning high-fat diet had no effect on the number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC or AVPV at PND34 (Figure 17C and D). The number of kisspeptin-ir cells in AVPV was very low in both groups, so OD measurements were performed to

include kisspeptin-ir in both soma and fibres, but revealed no change (data no shown). No correlations were found between body weight at PND34 and Kiss1 mRNA in ARC or AVPV at PND34, or between leptin at PND34 and Kiss1 mRNA in ARC or AVPV at PND34 (data not shown). Also, no correlation was found between the number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC at PND34 and body weight at PND34, whereas a negative correlation between leptin at PND34 and number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC at PND34 was present (data not shown). No correlations for kisspeptin-ir in AVPV were conducted due to the low level of kisspeptin-ir in this nucleus. All data for experiment 1 are summarised in Appendix III, table 1.



Figure 17. Kiss1 mRNA levels and kisspeptin-immunoreactivity in the arcuate nucleus (ARC) and anteroventral periventricular nucleus (AVPV) at postnatal day (PND) 34 in rats exposed to a high-fat diet from PND21 to 34. Kiss1 mRNA levels were determined by qRT-PCR at PND34, and depicted as fold change in relation to the control, in ARC (A) and AVPV (B). Kisspeptin-immunoreactivity (kisspeptin-ir) was determined by IHC at PND34 with JLV-1 1:200 in ARC (C) and AVPV (D) as the total number of kisspeptin-ir cells. Bars represent mean ± SEM (n=8-12).

### Experiment 1b - Post-weaning high-fat diet exposure to puberty

#### Exposure to post-weaning high-fat diet has no effect on puberty onset

Exposure to a post-weaning high-fat diet from PND21 until all animals had entered puberty, at PND37 (HFD PND21-puberty), was carried out to evaluate the effect on body weight and V.O.. No changes in body weight (Figure 18A) or weight gain (data no shown) from PND21 to 37, was observed in the HFD PND21-puberty group. Neither was a change in puberty onset present in HFD PND21-puberty (Figure 18B). No correlation between V.O. and weight gain from PND21 to 37 was present, and HFD PND21-puberty did not weigh more at V.O. (Figure 18C and D). All data for experiment 1B are summarised in Appendix III, table 1.



Figure 18. Body weight and vaginal opening (V.O.) in rats exposed to a high-fat diet from postnatal day (PND) 21 until puberty. (A) Body weight. (B) Pubertal timing assessed by V.O.. Graph represent the fraction of animals with V.O. the given day (n=24). (C) Correlation between V.O. and weight gain from PND21 to 37. (D) Body weight at V.O. Points in A and bars in D represent mean ± SEM (n=24).

## Experiment 2 – high-fat diet during lactation

#### Early life exposure to a high-fat diet has no effect on puberty onset

To evaluate the effect of an early life exposure to a high-fat diet from PND1 to 16 (HFD PND1-16) on body weight and puberty onset, lactating dams were exposed to a high-fat diet the first day the pups were born until PND16. At PND16 the diet was switched to the control diet and the pups were weaned at PND21 still continuing with the control diet. A high-fat diet exposure through lactation had no impact on body weights (Figure 19A) or weight gain from PND1 to 18 (data not shown). Puberty onset was not changed in HFD PND1-16 (Figure 19B). Neither, was a correlation between V.O. and weight gain from PND1 to 18 present in the control or high-fed rats, and HFD PND1-16 did not weigh more at V.O. (Figure 19C and D).



Figure 19. Body weight and vaginal opening (V.O.) in rats exposed to a high-fat diet from postnatal day (PND) 1 to 16. (A) Body weight. (B) Pubertal timing assessed by V.O.. Graph represent the fraction of animals with V.O. the given day (n=12-27). (C) Correlation between V.O. and weight gain from PND1 to 18 (n=4-8). (D) Body weight at V.O. Points in A and bars in D represent mean ± SEM (n=3-6).

## Early life exposure to a high-fat diet has no effect on leptin, triglyceride, insulin, or estradiol levels in pubertal rats

High-fat diet exposure through lactation from PND1 to 16 decreased leptin, triglyceride, and insulin plasma levels insignificantly (Figure 20A, B and C). There was a positive correlation between body weight at PND34 and both leptin and insulin at PND34, whereas no correlation was present between body weight and triglyceride levels at PND34. The high-fat diet had no effect on estradiol plasma levels at PND34 (Figure 20D), and no difference in estradiol levels, between prepubertal rats and pubertal rats was present (data not shown).



Figure 20. Leptin, triglyceride, insulin, and estradiol plasma levels at postnatal day (PND) 34 in rats exposed to a high-fat diet from PND1 to 16. (A) Leptin, (B) triglyceride, (C) insulin, and (D) estradiol plasma levels. Bars represent mean ± SEM (n=3-6).

Kiss1 mRNA levels in the hypothalamus are not affected by a high-fat diet exposure through lactation

The impact of an early life exposure to a high-fat diet, from PND1 to 16, on Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC and AVPV were evaluated at PND34 by qRT-PCR. No changes in Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC or AVPV were present in HFD PND1-16 (Figure 21). No correlations between body weight at PND34 and Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC or AVPV at PND34 or leptin at PND34 and Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC or AVPV at PND34 were present (data not shown). All data for experiment 2 are summarised in Appendix III, table



Figure 21. Kiss1 mRNA levels in the arcuate nucleus (ARC) and anteroventral periventricular nucleus (AVPV) at postnatal day (PND) 34 in rats exposed to a high-fat diet from PND1 to 16. Kiss1 mRNA levels were determined by qRT-PCR at PND34 and depicted as fold change in relation to the control, in ARC (A) and AVPV (B). Bars represent mean ± SEM (n=3-6).

### Experiment 3 - high-fat diet from birth to puberty

#### Exposure to a high-fat diet increases triglyceride and decreases estradiol levels in lactating rats

Exposure to a postnatal high-fat diet from PND1 to 34 was carried out by feeding dams a high-fat diet during lactation. The lactating dams, exposed to a high-fat diet for three weeks during lactation, had increased plasma triglyceride levels (Figure 22B), and decreased estradiol levels (Figure 22D) the day of weaning compared to the control dams maintained on the control diet. There was no effect of the high-fat diet on leptin levels, and only a tendency to an increased insulin level was detected (Figure 22A and C).

В



Figure 22. Leptin, triglyceride, insulin, and estradiol plasma levels in lactating rats exposed to a high-fat diet (HFD) for three weeks during lactation. (A) Leptin, (B) insulin, P=0.056, student's t-test, (C) triglyceride, and (D) estradiol plasma levels in lactating rats. Bars represent mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=2-3). \*P<0.05 with unpaired student's t'test.

#### High-fat diet exposure from birth to puberty has no effect on puberty onset

The effects of a postnatal high-fat diet exposure from PND1 to 34 on body weight and puberty onset were evaluated. Postnatal high-fat diet exposure from PND1 to 34 had no effects on body weight, weight gain (data not shown), or puberty onset (Figure 23A and B). No correlations between V.O. and body weight at V.O. in the control of HFD PND1-34 groups were present, but the HFD PND1-34 group weighted slightly more the day V.O. occurred (Figure 23C and D).

Α



Figure 23. Body weight and vaginal opening (V.O.) in rats exposed to a high-fat diet from postnatal day (PND) 1 to 34. (A) Body weight. (B) Pubertal timing assessed by V.O.. Graph represent the fraction of animals with V.O. the given day (n=16-27). (C) Correlation between V.O. and weight gain from PND7 to 34 (n=10-12). (D) Body weight at V.O. Points in A and bars in D represent mean  $\pm$  SEM (n=3-6). \*P<0.05, unpaired student's t'test.

## High-fat diet exposure from birth to puberty have no effects on leptin, triglyceride, insulin or estradiol levels in the pubertal rats

The plasma leptin, triglyceride, insulin, and estradiol levels at PND34 were not affected by a postnatal high-fat diet introduced from PND1 to 34 (Figure 24). There was a positive correlation between body weight at PND34 and leptin at PND34, whereas no correlation between bodyweight and insulin or triglyceride levels at PND34 were present (data not shown). No difference in estradiol levels, between prepubertal rats and pubertal rats was present (data not shown).



Figure 24. Leptin, triglyceride, insulin, and estradiol plasma levels at postnatal day (PND) 34 in rats exposed to a high-fat diet from PND1 to 34. (A) Leptin, (B) triglyceride, (C) insulin, and (D) estradiol plasma levels. Bars represent mean ± SEM (n=3-6).

### Kiss1 mRNA levels in the hypothalamus is not affected by a postnatal high-fat diet exposure

The effect of a postnatal high-fat diet, from PND1 to 34, on Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC and AVPV were evaluated at PND34 by qRT-PCR. HFD PND1-34 experienced no changes in Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC or AVPV (Figure 25). Body weight at PND34 or leptin at PND34 were not correlated to either Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC or AVPV at PND34 (data not shown). All data for experiment 3 are summarised in Appendix III, table 1.



Figure 25. Kiss1 mRNA levels in the arcuate nucleus (ARC) and anteroventral periventricular nucleus (AVPV) at postnatal day (PND) 34, in rats exposed to a high-fat diet from PND1 to 34. Kiss1 mRNA levels were determined by qRT-PCR at PND34, and depicted as fold change in relation to the control, in ARC (A) and AVPV (B). Bars represent mean ± SEM (n=3-6).

## High-fat diet, estrous cyclicity, and the kisspeptinergic system

#### Experiment 4 – high-fat diet from weaning to adulthood

#### High-fat diet exposure from weaning onwards extend the estrous cycle in young adult rats

To evaluate the effects of a high-fat diet on estrous cyclicity and kisspeptin, rats were exposed to a high-fat diet from PND21 and for 40 days (HFD PND21-adulthood). High-fat diet exposure increased body weight from PND54 onwards (Figure 26A), and increased the total weight gain in the test diet period (Figure 26B). To assess estrous cyclicity, vaginal smears were conducted from PND50 and for 10 consecutive days. High-fat diet exposure induced an irregular estrous cycle in a significant number of animals (33% of the animals) (Figure 26C) which were either present as an extended diestrous, estrous, or proestrous, however, an extended diestrous was most frequent. Based on this, the high-fat diet group was divided into two subgroups; one with a regular estrous cycle (HFD regular cycle), and one with an irregular estrous cycle (HFD extended cycle). Weight gain was evaluated in the subgroups, and only the HFD regular cycle group had an increased weight gain, whereas only tendencies of an increased weight gain were present in the HFD extended cycle group (Figure 26D) (see Appendix III, table 2 for a summary).



Figure 26. Body weight and estrous regularity in adult rats exposed to a high-fat diet from postnatal day (PND) 21 to approximately 61. (A) Body weight. \*\*\*P<0.001 with Two-Way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni multiple comparisons corrections (n=24). (B) Weight gain in the test diet period from PND21 to 61. \*P<0.05 with unpaired student's t-test (n=24). (C) Estrous cyclicity depicted as the number of animals with a regular or irregular (extended) estrous cycle. \*P<0.05 with 2x2 contingency table with Fisher's exact test (n=23-24). (D) Weight gain in the test diet period from PND21 to 61 for the HFD

subgroups. \*\*\*P<0.001 with One-Way ANOVA followed by Dunnet's post hoc test (n=8-24). Points in A and bars in B and D represent mean ± SEM.

### High-fat diet exposure from weaning increases leptin levels in young adults

Leptin, triglyceride, insulin, and estradiol plasma levels were determined at diestrous around PND61. Leptin levels in the HFD regular cycle and in the HFD extended cycle group increased by the fat-rich diet (Figure 27A). A decrease in triglyceride levels were detected in the HFD regular cycle group (Figure 27B), whereas no change was detected in the HFD extended cycle group when compared to the control fed rats. No high-fat diet induced changes in insulin levels or estradiol levels were present in either high-fat diet exposed groups in comparison with the control fed rats (Figure 27C and D). A positive correlation was present between final body weight and the leptin level the same day when all animals were assessed together, but no correlations between final body weight and leptin levels were present for the control or the high-fat diet subgroups, when assessed individually. No correlations were present between final body weight and either triglycerides or insulin levels the same day.



Figure 27. Leptin, triglyceride, insulin, and estradiol plasma levels at diestrous in adult rats exposed to a high-fat diet from postnatal day (PND) 21 to approximately 61. The high-fat diet group is divided into one group with a regular estrous cycle and one group with an extended estrous cycle. (A) Leptin, (B) triglyceride, (C) insulin, and (D) estradiol plasma levels. Bars represent mean ± SEM (n=8-24). \*P<0.01, \*\*\*P<0.001 with One-WAy ANOVA followed by Dunnet's post hoc test.

## High-fat diet exposure from weaning to adulthood has no effect on Kiss1 mRNA or kisspeptin in the hypothalamus

The impact of a high-fat diet exposure from weaning onwards on Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC and AVPV in young adult rats was evaluated at diestrous around PND61. The high-fat diet exposure had no effect

on Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC or AVPV at PND61 (Figure 28A and B). The number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC and AVPV at diestrous around PND61 was evaluated by IHC by use of our kisspeptin antibodu JLV1 diluted 1:200. Exposure to a high-fat diet from weaning onwards had no effect on the number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC or AVPV (Figure 28C and D). The number of kisspeptin-ir cells in AVPV was low in the adults. OD measurements were performed to include total kisspeptin-ir in cell bodies and fibres, but revealed no change in AVPV (data not shown). All data for experiment 4 are summarized in Appendix III, table 2.



Figure 28. Kiss1 mRNA levels and kisspeptin-immunoreactivity in the arcuate nucleus (ARC) and the anteroventral periventricular nucleus (AVPV) at diestrous in adult rats exposed to a high-fat diet from postnatal day (PND) 21 to approximately 61. The high-fat diet group is divided into one group with a regular cycle and one group with an extended cycle. Kiss1 mRNA levels were determined by qRT-PCR at approximately PND61, and depicted as fold change in relation to the control, in ARC (A) and AVPV (B) (n=5-12). Kisspeptin-immunoreactivity (kisspeptin-ir) was determined by IHC with JLV-1 1:200 as the total number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC (C) and AVPV (D) (n=2-12). Bars represent mean ± SEM.

## Discussion

The secular trend in pubertal timing in girls and increased incidence of reproductive dysfunction in women believed to be linked to the rising incidence of obesity (Kaplowitz, 2008, Ahmed et al., 2009) (Linne, 2004, Pasquali et al., 2007) highlights the importance of understanding the mechanisms coordinating nutrient-dependent growth and timing of sexual maturation, one of the most fundamental, yet unsolved, questions in biology.

In rodents, little is known about the impact of a postnatal exposure to a high-fat diet on pubertal timing and estrous cyclicity and even less is known about the underlying mechanism. In the following, the data obtained during the present thesis focused on the effects of a postnatal high-fat diet on puberty onset and estrous cyclicity in relation to changes in the kisspeptinergic system will be discussed in relation to relevant scientific literature.

# The effects of a postnatal high-fat diet exposure on puberty onset and the kisspeptinergic system

### High-fat diet exposure from weaning

In the present study, no effect of a high-fat diet exposure from weaning onwards, on puberty onset revealed by V.O. was found. This is in contrast with previous studies were a post-weaning high-fat diet advance puberty onset in female rodents without changing the body weight (Boukouvalas et al., 2008, Brill and Moenter, 2009, Sloboda et al., 2009, Boukouvalas et al., 2010, Moral et al., 2011). As in the other studies, no effect of the high-fat diet on final body weight was present. Furthermore, no correlations between V.O. and weight gain in the control or high-fat diet group were found, and the high-fat fed rats did not weight more at V.O.. Caloric intake or fat pads were not assessed, but the lack of change in body weight at PND34, together with the unchanged leptin, insulin, and triglyceride levels at PND34, indicates that the female rats are not metabolic disturbed by the post-weaning high-fat diet. Only one other study reports leptin levels, but like here found no change after a post-weaning high-fat diet (Boukouvalas et al., 2010). A lowered insulin level has been reported in female rats, whereas other finds no change in female mice (Brill and Moenter, 2009). Whether the advanced puberty onset reported in the other studies (Boukouvalas et al., 2008, Brill and Moenter, 2009, Sloboda et al., 2009, Boukouvalas et al., 2010, Moral et al., 2011) was accompanied by a metabolic change is unclear, but it is certain that the metabolic change is not reflected in a change in body weight. A previous study have shown that the caloric intake increases just after switching the diet from normal chow to a high-fat diet, but that rats slowly adjust their food intake so the caloric intake per day becomes the same as before the diet was switched (Kamara et al., 1998). This, together with the short period of high-fat diet

exposure, can be the reasons why no change in body weights at peri-puberty was detected after the post-weaning high-fat diet exposure.

Multiple reasons may explain the different effects of a high-fat diet exposure from weaning on puberty onset reported here and elsewhere (Boukouvalas et al., 2008, Brill and Moenter, 2009, Sloboda et al., 2009, Boukouvalas et al., 2010, Moral et al., 2011). One possibility is that differences in food quality and content like the presence of phytosteroids in soybean oil (elSattar ElBaltran, 2001) in the high-fat diet affects pubertal timing. However, no differences in the pubertal timing were observed in the present studies arguing against this possibility. None of the other studies used a diet with a fat energy percentage over 45% (Boukouvalas et al., 2008, Brill and Moenter, 2009, Sloboda et al., 2009, Boukouvalas et al., 2010, Moral et al., 2011). Our in-house data show a more pronounced effect of a post-weaning diet with 60% energy from fat compared to a diet with 45% energy from fat, on both body weight and kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC (unpublished), but it is possible that 60% energy from fat does not have the same effect on V.O. as a diet with a lower fat energy percentage. A difference in the genetic background is another consideration that may explain contrasting results obtained by the different groups. The majority of the studies have been conducted on Wistar rats, which are very isogenetic compared to Sprague Dawley rats (Dourmashkin et al., 2006). This is underlined by the major diversity in body weight gain and timing of puberty onset from one litter to another observed here (data not shown). This is the reason why the Sprague Dawley rats used in these studies came from different litters. Theoretical, the advantage of using rats with an isogenetic profile, like Sprague Dawley rats, is that it could reveal whether the high-fat diet sensitive rats also experience earlier V.O. in contrast to the high-fat diet insensitive rats. Though, no correlations between body weight gain and timing of V.O. were present in the control or high-fat fed rats in the present study. In contrast to this study, a post-weaning high-fat diet advanced puberty onset in Sprague Dawley rats from different litters (Moral et al., 2011). However, both fat type and fat energy percentage were different, and V.O. occurred quite late in Moral et al. (2011) in comparisons with these studies, which may be implicated in the different outcomes. The relevance of differences in fat type is underlined by the lack of change in timing of V.O. in Sprague Dawley rats exposed to a post-weaning high-fat diet composed of olive oil (Moral et al., 2011).

An important issue to be made is the large variability in puberty onset reported in the different studies both for the high-fat and control fed rats ranging from PND33 to 42 (Boukouvalas et al., 2008, Sloboda et al., 2009, Boukouvalas et al., 2010, Moral et al., 2011). This difference in V.O. suggests that many other factors than a higher fat energy percentage is involved in the regulation of pubertal timing. This is in agreement with epidemiological data showing that multiple factors are involved in the regulation of pubertal maturation including race, maternal age at menarche, primiparity, endocrine disrupting chemicals, and maternal overweight or obesity (Rosenfield et al., 2009, Maisonet et al., 2010, Mouritsen et al., 2010). At PND34, only a tendency of an earlier puberty onset and an increase in the number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC and AVPV, and Kiss1 mRNA in ARC, were present in the HFD PND21-34 group. It is possible that the genetic variability in Sprague Dawlay rats could mask the effects of a high-fat diet and explain the lack of effect on puberty onset and the kisspeptinergic system observed here. This idea is consistent with the lack of effect of a high-fat diet on Kiss1 mRNA levels in mice not prone to obesity-induced infertility, whereas a change in Kiss1 mRNA levels was present in mice that are susceptible to obesity induced infertility (Quennell et al., 2011). However, no correlations between timing of V.O. and Kiss1 mRNA or kisspeptin-ir in ARC or AVPV neither between body weight at V.O. and Kiss1 mRNA or kisspeptin-ir in ARC, which is in contradiction with data reporting that leptin is a positive modulator of *Kiss1* expression (Smith et al., 2006a, Quennell et al., 2011).

Changes in the kisspeptinergic system in relation to a high-fat diet induced advancement of puberty onset, has only been assessed by one other group. Hypothalamic *Kiss1* expression was evaluated just prior to V.O. and was found to increase insignificantly in Sprague Dawlay rats fed the high-fat diet (Moral et al., 2011). The failure to detect a change in Kiss1 mRNA in the entire hypothalamus by Moral et al. (2011) may reflect dilution of restricted regional changes in *Kiss1* expression in ARC and/or AVPV. It is also conceivable that the regional changes would rather be reflected in kisspeptin-ir. Last, it is possible that the genetic difference is implicated in the lack of a clear effect on Kiss1 mRNA levels in Moral et al. (2011).

Based on the limited data available, it is not possible to conclude whether the post-weaning high-fat diet induced change in puberty onset, reported elsewhere (Boukouvalas et al., 2008, Brill and Moenter, 2009, Sloboda et al., 2009, Boukouvalas et al., 2010, Moral et al., 2011), is associated with an advanced maturation of the kisspeptinergic system. However, according to the data obtained here, a post-weaning high-fat diet has no effect on either puberty onset or the kisspeptinergic system.

## High-fat diet exposure through lactation

In the present study, high-fat diet exposure through lactation from PND1 to 16 did not interfere with puberty onset or body weight, and no correlation between timing of V.O. and weight gain in the diet period was present. Also, Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC and AVPV and plasma estradiol, leptin, triglyceride, and insulin levels were unchanged by the high-fat diet exposure. These findings are consistent with previous data where a high-fat diet from PND1 to 15 through lactation neither affected V.O. nor changed the levels of leptin, insulin, or triglycerides (Chang et al., 2008).

Since the high-fat diet exposure was through lactation, an obvious question is what the offspring was exposed to through the milk. Dams, subjected to a high-fat diet only during the lactating period for three weeks, had an increased triglyceride level and a decreased estradiol level, whereas no changes in leptin or insulin levels were detected in the present study. Although, it should be mentioned that the triglyceride levels measured may not be representative due to methodological complications

described in *Triglyceride*. It has previously been shown that dams exposed to a high-fat diet with 60% of the energy from fat, have the same caloric intake during lactation as control fed dams (Chang et al., 2008). Furthermore, a diet with 60% energy from fat induced from the second day of gestation onwards, increases fat content in the milk from PND10 onwards from 11% to 14%, without changing the level of leptin in the milk (Purcell et al., 2011). It is uncertain whether the fat content of the milk was changed at any time in the present study, given the high-fat-diet was not induced before the first day of lactation. Based on this, it is possible that the pups, subjected to the high-fat diet only through lactation, are not metabolic challenged as the dams may have functioned as a barrier, and the reason why no change in puberty onset was present.

In contrast, female rats subjected to overfeeding, by being raised in small litters, a widely used model of overfeeding, had advanced V.O. and a pronounced increase in body weight and leptin, that persisted after the overfeeding period (Castellano et al., 2011, Smith and Spencer, 2012). This model, in contrast to a high-fat diet, increases the amount of available food per pup. Manipulations of litter size can have an impact of additional factors e.g. sex steroids and the adrenal stress axis that may have an effect on puberty onset (Castellano et al., 2011). Maternal care could also have been more intense in the small litters and an important bias towards an earlier puberty onset, but whether this is the case remains unknown.

As reported her, no change in the kisspeptinergic system was present in rats subjected to a high-fat diet through lactation, but whether the change in timing of V.O., induced by overfeeding, is caused by a change in the kisspeptinergic system is ambiguous (Castellano et al., 2011, Smith and Spencer, 2012). One study report an increase in hypothalamic Kiss1 mRNA at PND36 in the overfed rats, whereas the number of kisspeptin cells in ARC or kisspeptin fiber number and density in AVPV only tends to increase at PND36 in the overfed rats (Castellano et al., 2011). It is possible that the observed differences in Kiss1 mRNA and kisspeptin-ir would be larger if they were assessed at PND34 where all overfed rats had V.O., but only a smaller fraction of the normal fed rats had V.O.. Since *Kiss1* expression was determined in the entire hypothalamus it is not clear where the regional changes in Kiss1 mRNA occurs. Another similar study assessed Kiss1 mRNA levels the day of V.O., and found no difference in Kiss1 mRNA in either ARC or AVPV in the overfed rats with earlier V.O. (Smith and Spencer, 2012). Since Kiss1 mRNA primarily increases prior to V.O. (Han et al., 2005, Clarkson and Herbison, 2006, Bentsen et al., 2009, Clarkson et al., 2009a, Takase et al., 2009) and since no change in Kiss1 mRNA occur upon V.O. in the present study, this lack of difference in Kiss1 mRNA could be due to the fact that Kiss1 mRNA is assessed at V.O. as opposed to a fixed day like in present study and by Castellano et al. (2011). Considering the limited data available, it is not possible to conclude whether the advancement in puberty onset induced by pre-weaning overfeeding (Castellano et al., 2011, Smith and Spencer, 2012) is associated with an earlier increase in Kiss1 mRNA and/or kisspeptin-ir in ARC and/or AVPV. Though, it is tempting to propose that the persistent increase in leptin and a subsequent positive modulation of *Kiss1* expression is involved in the precocious puberty, which is supported by Castellano

et al. (2011). Leptin was not measured in the perinatal period in the overfed fats (Castellano et al., 2011, Smith and Spencer, 2012), but it is possible that the pre-weaning overfeeding interfered with the prenatal leptin-surge and thereby altered the formation of kisspeptin projections from ARC. It has been shown that an impaired perinatal leptin-surge impair the formation of ARC projections (Bouret et al., 2004b, Bouret et al., 2008), but whether an increased leptin level in the period can have the opposite effect remains undefined. Since the high-fat diet was not induced before PND1 in this study, and given that no change in leptin was present at PND34, it is likely that leptin was not affected in the perinatal period in the present study.

Other factors affected by the energy status and possible modulators of *Kiss1* expression like NPY and ghrelin could play a role in the advancement of pubertal timing induced by overfeeding (Castellano et al., 2011, Smith and Spencer, 2012). Since puberty in female rats do not appear to be sensitive to ghrelin (Fernandez-Fernandez et al., 2005), ghrelin do not seem to be a relevant factor in this respect. Also, an increase in sex steroid levels or the bioavailability hereof due to obesity (de Ridder et al., 1992, Barber et al., 2006, Dunger et al., 2006, Ahmed et al., 2009, Brill and Moenter, 2009) may modulate *Kiss1* expression and thereby advance V.O. in the overfed rats. This idea is consistent with the fact that litter size manipulations increased body weight after the overfeeding period and can interfere with sex steroid levels (Castellano et al., 2011).

In contrast to the effect of pre-weaning overfeeding on puberty onset (Castellano et al., 2011, Smith and Spencer, 2012), an increase in fat energy percentage during lactation has no effect on timing of V.O. or the kisspeptinergic system in the offspring according to the data presented here.

#### High-fat diet exposure through lactation and post-weaning

In the present study, high-fat diet exposure in the entire postnatal period did not interfere with the timing of V.O.. This finding is in contradiction with a similar study were a high-fat diet exposure from PND1 to puberty advanced V.O. in Sprague Dawley rats (Lo et al., 2009). No correlation between V.O. and weight gain from PND7 to 34 was present in this study, but the HFD PND1-34 group weighted slightly more at V.O.. However, no effect of the high-fat diet was reflected in any of the metabolic factors. Also, no change in body weight occurred in the high-fat fed rats in this study, which is consistent with Lo et al. (2009).

Several differences between the studies can contribute to the different outcomes regarding timing of V.O.. The fat percentage was lower and the fat source in the Lo et al. (2009) study was exclusively safflower, which is believed to contain phytosteroids (Bieber, 1986). Both factors could be implicated in the advanced puberty onset reported in Lo et al. (2009)(Lo et al., 2009) since no change in puberty onset was present here. In addition, V.O. occurred quite late in the study by Lo et al. (2009) in comparisons with this study, which suggests that other factors are regulating puberty onset as described above.

At PND34, no changes in Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC or AVPV were present in the HFD PND1-34 group. Since no concomitant characterization of the kisspeptinergic system was evaluated by Lo et al. (2009) it is not possible to deduce if the advanced puberty onset induced by high-fat feeding in Lo et al. (2009) is accompanied by an increase in Kiss1 mRNA or kisspeptinerin in ARC or AVPV. However, according to the data presented here, an increase in fat energy percentage alone in the postnatal period has no effect on puberty onset or the kisspeptinergic system.

# *Nutritional induced changes in pubertal timing in rodents and humans – translational aspects*

Epidemiological data have shown that an increased weight gain, BMI or fat percentage in early life or at peri-puberty are associated with advanced puberty onset in girls (He and Karlberg, 2001, Davison et al., 2003, Lee et al., 2007, Aksglaede et al., 2009a, Rosenfield et al., 2009, Maisonet et al., 2010). However, not all epidemiological surveys have found an association (de Ridder et al., 1992, Aksglaede et al., 2009b), and numerous methodological issues have to be encountered before making this association plausible.

An expert panel has recommended some methodological guidelines for assessing this link which includes longitudinal studies, pubertal maturation assessment by Tanner definitions with breast palpation, and body fat and weight covariates like BMI (Euling et al., 2008, Biro et al., 2010). Only a very limited number of the epidemiological surveys meet these recommendations. Many epidemiological surveys, assessing puberty onset as the larche (Marshall and Tanner, 1969), do not palpate the breast tissue (Ahmed et al., 2009, Rosenfield et al., 2009), and increased adiposity can thus be mistaken as early breast development (Ahmed et al., 2009). Only few of the studies measure percent body fat, but measure only BMI, which is a surrogate marker for fat percentage (Kaplowitz, 2008). Also, different definitions of puberty onset are applied e.g. peak height velocity, onset of growth spurt (He and Karlberg, 2001, Aksglaede et al., 2009a), thelarche (Ahmed et al., 2009, Rosenfield et al., 2009, Biro et al., 2010), and menarche (Dunger et al., 2006) which are occurring at very different times. Peak height velocity and pubertal growth spurt being considered early markers, whereas menarche is a late marker (Karaolis-Danckert et al., 2009). It is likely that the different pubertal markers are not equally susceptible to a metabolic regulation as observed in both epidemiological surveys (Karaolis-Danckert et al., 2009) and animals studies (Moral et al., 2011), and thereby contribute to the different findings. These methodological guidelines are extremely important to encounter before drawing the conclusion that obesity markers at different developmental periods, are implicated in the secular trend in pubertal timing, to avoid incorrect conclusions. This can also reveal whether there is a critical window or sensitive period during which the regulation of pubertal maturation are susceptible to an obesity induced change in girls (Kaplowitz, 2008).

A link between a postnatal positive energy challenge and an earlier puberty onset has been reported in rodents where V.O. is used as a marker of puberty onset (Hilakivi-Clarke et al., 1997, Boukouvalas et

al., 2008, Chang et al., 2008, Brill and Moenter, 2009, Lo et al., 2009, Sloboda et al., 2009, Boukouvalas et al., 2010, Castellano et al., 2011, Moral et al., 2011). V.O., an external sign of puberty onset in rodents, is a functional marker indicating that a proper functional activation of all the levels of the HPG axis has occurred (Navarro et al., 2004b), and more likely correspond to menarche in girls. It is conceivable that V.O. is not a proper marker for evaluating the effect of a metabolic induced change in pubertal timing in rodents since it may not be as sensitive as an earlier pubertal marker. This is consistent with the lack of effect of a high-fat diet on V.O. reported here. In accordance, only small effects of a high-fat diet on V.O. were present in the other studies (Hilakivi-Clarke et al., 1997, Boukouvalas et al., 2008, Brill and Moenter, 2009, Lo et al., 2009, Sloboda et al., 2009, Boukouvalas et al., 2010, Moral et al., 2011). This is in line with the secular trends observed in Danish girls, where menarche has declined only by few months in contrast to thelarche, which has declined by 1 year within the last decades (Aksglaede et al., 2009b, Mouritsen et al., 2010), which suggests that the advanced puberty onset observed in girls is not accompanied by a full activation of the HPG axis, which V.O. is a marker for. Another possible reason for the lack of effect of a high-fat diet on puberty onset reported here, and the small effects observed elsewhere (Hilakivi-Clarke et al., 1997, Boukouvalas et al., 2008, Brill and Moenter, 2009, Lo et al., 2009, Sloboda et al., 2009, Boukouvalas et al., 2010, Moral et al., 2011), could be that a nutritional regulation of puberty onset are absent in rodents. This idea is in keeping with epidemiological surveys being unable to find a link between earlier thelarche and pubertal BMI (Aksglaede et al., 2009b), or thelarche and pubertal body fat mass or distribution (de Ridder et al., 1992).

Only few studies have investigated the mechanisms underlying the possible nutritional induced change in pubertal timing in rodents and humans. Animal models, like rodents, are invaluable in this context. Though, by using V.O. as a marker for puberty onset it may be difficult to see metabolic induced changes in the systems believed to be pivotal in the reactivation of the HPG axis, since the HPG axis is already fully activated at V.O. This is consistent with the fact that both Kiss1 mRNA and kisspeptin-ir in ARC and AVPV primarily increases prior to puberty onset in rodents (Han et al., 2005, Clarkson and Herbison, 2006, Bentsen et al., 2009, Clarkson et al., 2009a, Takase et al., 2009). Therefore, it would be beneficial to find and implement the use of an earlier marker for pubertal maturation in rodents which may correlate better to nutritional induced changes in puberty onset, and changes in the kisspeptinergic system or other factors believed to play a role in the pubertal maturation. However, V.O. is an easy inexpensive external pubertal marker, and an earlier marker would probably meet methodological obstacles since it would not be external, but require blood samples or the assessment of the reproductive organs.

To translate the findings obtained in rodents, the physiological differences between rodents and humans need to be considered. In rodents, estradiol seems to play a central role in the reactivation of the HPG axis and the maturation of the kisspeptinergic system (Clarkson et al., 2009a, Clarkson et al., 2010), which is not the case in humans and higher primates, where the reactivation of the HPG axis

appears to be independent of an increase in sex steroids (Guerriero et al., 2012b, Plant, 2012). This is extremely relevant in regard to the kisspeptinergic system, since *Kiss1* expression in ARC is regulated by sex steroids in both rodents and higher primates, but in different ways as *Kiss1* expression in AVPV in rodents, and not in the corresponding POA in higher primates, are subjected to a regulation by sex steroids (Dhillo, 2008, Smith, 2009). To exploit the application of animal models, like rodents, in a translational aspect many more epidemiological and rodent studies are required to elucidate the physiological differences as well as to define the critical window, if any, for a nutritional regulation of pubertal timing. This should be done in order to reveal when and how, e.g. by changing food content, amounts etc., the nutritional challenge should be applied in rodents, in order to model the human scenarios best.

Even if a nutritional induced effect on pubertal timing is present in girls and rodents, one needs to have in mind that many other factors seems to be involved in the regulation of pubertal timing, which is revealed by epidemiological surveys (Aksglaede et al., 2009b, Rosenfield et al., 2009, Maisonet et al., 2010, Mouritsen et al., 2010), and by the large viability in V.O. in rodents reported her and by others (Boukouvalas et al., 2008, Chang et al., 2008, Brill and Moenter, 2009, Lo et al., 2009, Boukouvalas et al., 2010, Castellano et al., 2011, Moral et al., 2011, Smith and Spencer, 2012).

### *Estrous cyclicity*

According to the present study, a high-fat diet from weaning induced an irregular estrous cycle in a subgroup of the rats primarily by extending the diestrous phase. This was accompanied by a pronounced increase in leptin. This subgroup of rats had no change in body weight in contrast to the high-fat fed with a regular cycle, which weighted more, and had an increased leptin level which was not as high as in the HFD extended cycle group. This reveals that some Sprague Dawley rats are prone to diet induced obesity, while others are resistant, like reported previously (Dourmashkin et al., 2006). A positive correlation between final body weight and leptin levels was present when based on all animals, but not when the control and high-fat fed subgroups were assessed individually. Surprisingly, the irregular estrous cycle was present in the rats resistant to diet induced obesity, but since leptin levels were almost doubled in the HFD extended cycle group it suggest that adiposity increased without a concomitant increase in body weight. This is consistent with the lack of correlation between final body weight and leptin levels us present and leptin levels are reased as a present with the lack of correlation between final body weight and leptin levels in this subgroup. Why this subgroup of animals experienced a much higher leptin increase than the high-fat fed rats with a regular cycle it not certain.

A high-fat diet induced irregular estrous cycle has been reported both after 120 days (extended by one day) and 180 days (cycle duration doubled) exposure which was accompanied by an increased body weight and body fat (Akamine et al., 2010). The high-fat diet exposure for 120 or 180 days induced hyperinsulinemia, insulin resistance, and increased progesterone levels, but did not change estradiol levels (Akamine et al., 2010). In contrast to Akamine et al. (2010), the high-fat diet induced irregular

estrous cycle observed here do not appear to be mediated by changes in insulin, but whether leptin is affected by the high-fat diet in Akamine et al. (2010) was not assessed.

This study show that even 40 days of high-fat diet exposure, not reflected by a change in body weight, extend the estrous cycle. A phenomenon, that is more pronounced after longer exposure to a high-fat diet accompanied by a more distinct increase in body weight (Akamine et al., 2010), which is consistent with the clinical findings (Linne, 2004, Nelson and Fleming, 2007, Pasquali et al., 2007).

An association between an impaired kisspeptinergic system, due to a decreased kisspeptin fiber density in ARC and AVPV, and an irregular estrous cycle has been reported in adult rats subjected to neonatal exposure to phytoestogens or estrogen specific ligands (Bateman and Patisaul, 2008). In the present study, the high-fat diet had no impact on *Kiss1* expression or number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC or AVPV. To my knowledge, no characterization of the kisspeptinergic system in relation to a high-fat induced extension of the estrous cycle has been conducted. However, a previous study has detected a decrease in Kiss1 mRNA levels in AVPV in mice fed a high-fat diet for approximately 150 days (Quennell et al., 2011). This decrease was only reported in mice being susceptible to obesity-induced infertility, and could not be detected in mice not prone to obesity-induced infertility, even though both mice strains weighted more (Quennell et al., 2011). This mice study emphasizes how important the genetic background is for a metabolic regulation of fertility and even *Kiss1* expression. According to the present findings, the kisspeptinergic system is not likely to be involved in the high-fat diet induced irregularity of the estrous cycle. Though, it cannot be excluded that the high-fat diet period is too short to reveal an effect on Kiss1 mRNA levels or kisspeptine-ir.

It is conceivable that leptin could be mediating the metabolic regulation of estrous cyclicity in a kisspeptin independent manner given Kiss1 mRNA levels were unchanged in the present study. This hypothesis, which is highly speculative, is supported by the lack of effect of a genetic deletion of the leptin receptor from kisspeptin neurons in mice, on pubertal timing and fertility (Donato et al., 2011b). As described above, several other factors including NPY and ghrelin are affected by a nutritional challenge (Fernandez-Fernandez et al., 2005, Luque et al., 2007), but neither of these factors appear to be involved in the high-fat diet induced irregular estrous cycle, given estrous cyclicity are unaffected by chronic ghrelin administration (Fernandez-Fernandez et al., 2007). Nor, seems a change in the level of sex steroids or the bioavailability hereof to be involved given no changes in either estradiol or insulin, a known modulator of sex steroid levels and bioavailability (Ahmed et al., 2009), were present in the HFD extended cycle group.

These types of animal studies aiming to reveal the underlying mechanisms of a nutritional regulation of reproductive function are becoming increasingly important due to the increasing obesity epidemic and the equivalent need of fertility treatment (Nelson and Fleming, 2007, Pasquali et al., 2007). However, the physiological differences in regulating reproductive function between human and rodents, e.g. the kisspeptinergic control of the preovulatory LH surge (Plant, 2012), needs to be considered before translating the findings in rodents to humans.

## Maturation of the kisspeptinergic system

We detected big variations in Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC and AVPV at PND34 which can be due to different stages of HPG activation in both the rats with and without V.O.. Also, it cannot be excluded that the rats, with V.O. at PND32 or PND33 are cyclic since they typically become cyclic immediately after V.O. (Goldman et al., 2007). If so, Kiss1 mRNA in AVPV and ARC at PND34 would be affected by circulating sex steroids.

No changes in Kiss1 mRNA levels at PND34 in either ARC or AVPV were present in rats with V.O. in contrast to rats without V.O.. This is in line with the fact that Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC and AVPV primarily increases prior to puberty onset in both ARC and AVPV (Han et al., 2005, Clarkson and Herbison, 2006, Bentsen et al., 2009, Clarkson et al., 2009a, Takase et al., 2009, Takumi et al., 2011). To my knowledge, no studies have evaluated changes in Kiss1 mRNA on a fixed day in relation to V.O., and developmental studies of *Kiss1* expression with a week interval around V.O. have lead to mixed results for AVPV, whereas no change in ARC Kiss1 mRNA was detected (Takase et al., 2009, Takumi et al., 2011). In the present study, a positive correlation between V.O. and Kiss1 mRNA in AVPV at PND34 was present, meaning that Kiss1 mRNA levels in AVPV were higher if assessed the same day V.O. occurred. Whether this is due to an actual peak in Kiss1 mRNA in AVPV at V.O. remains uncertain since Kiss1 mRNA levels were not measured in one animal before and after V.O. However, if a peak in Kiss1 mRNA in AVPV occurs at V.O. it would indicate that AVPV kisspeptin neurons may be involved in the regulation of V.O.. Another possible interpretation of the positive correlation between V.O. and Kiss1 mRNA in AVPV at PND61 argues against this possibility.

As reported before (Takase et al., 2009), the number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC at PND34 was higher in rats with V.O. than without V.O.. The physiological meaning of this increase in kisspeptin-ir in ARC upon V.O. is undefined. No change in the number of kisspeptin-ir cells in AVPV was present after V.O. which is in contradiction with two studies reporting an increase in AVPV upon V.O., after use of colchicin (Sun et al., 2007, Takase et al., 2009). It appears that kisspeptin-ir cells in AVPV are easily visualized in mice in contrast to rats, where kisspeptin is virtually absent unless colchicin, which is an inhibitor of axonal transport, is applied (Castellano et al., 2011). The difference in detecting kisspeptin-ir in ARC and AVPV is probably due to physiological differences in the transport, processing, and secretion of kisspeptin in the two nuclei (Castellano et al., 2011). Colchicin was not applied in the present study since colchicin cause unphysiological conditions and may affect kisspeptin expression. Due to this, kisspeptin-ir in AVPV was also assessed by OD to include both soma and fiber kisspeptin-ir, but also this approach revealed no change in kisspeptin-ir in AVPV upon V.O. In keeping with previous literature (Takumi et al., 2011, Desroziers et al., 2012) the present study shows that Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC and the number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC increases from peripuberty at PND34 to early adulthood at PND61 in female rats. Whether the same is true for kisspeptin in AVPV is ambiguous since only an increase in Kiss1 mRNA were detected here and not by others (Takumi et al., 2011), and due to the methodological obstacles regarding assessing kisspeptin-ir in AVPV in female rats without the use of colchicin as experienced here and reported by others (Desroziers et al., 2012). Though, it should be noted that only approximately 50% of the animals assessed at peri-puberty had V.O., however, since no changes in Kiss1 mRNA levels in either ARC or AVPV occurred after V.O., this seems not to cause artificially low Kiss1 mRNA levels at PND34. Whether the same holds for kisspeptin-ir in ARC is questionable since kisspeptin-ir in ARC increases after V.O..

Based on the limited data available it is not possible to reveal a consistent developmental profile for the kisspeptinergic system at peri-puberty and from peri-puberty to early adulthood in female rats. However, according to the data reported here, it is clear that the kisspeptinergic system undergoes a postnatal maturation both at peri-puberty and from peri-puberty to adulthood which is consistent with the literature (Han et al., 2005, Bentsen et al., 2009, Clarkson et al., 2009a, Takase et al., 2009, Takumi et al., 2011, Desroziers et al., 2012). Based on the present findings, Kiss1 mRNA levels and the number of kisspeptin-ir cells increases from peri-puberty to adulthood, which is not the case around V.O. where the number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC increases upon V.O. without any simultaneous increase in Kiss1 mRNA. This could be due to the fact that Kiss1 mRNA in ARC primarily increases prior to puberty onset (Han et al., 2005, Takase et al., 2009) and perhaps are unchanged around V.O.. Another possibility is that Kiss1 mRNA is translated more rapidly around V.O. where the kisspeptinergic system is central for stimulating the GnRH neurons. The physiological implication of these postnatal changes at peri-puberty and trough adulthood still remains to be elucidated.

## Conclusion

A developmental maturation of the kisspeptinergic system occurs both at peri-puberty and from peripuberty to early adulthood in female rats. The number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC at PND34 increased upon V.O. whereas both an increase in the number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC and in Kiss1 mRNA levels in ARC and AVPV occurred from peri-puberty to early adulthood.

The postnatal high-fat diet exposure through lactation, post-weaning, or both periods, had no effect on puberty onset, revealed by V.O., or body weights. In accordance, no changes in the metabolic factors and hormones including leptin, insulin, triglycerides, and estradiol, were present at PND34 in any of these high-fat fed rats. Further supporting the lack of effect, high-fat diet, in the three different postnatal feeding periods, did not affect the kisspeptinergic system, reflected by changes in *Kiss1* expression and in the number of kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC or AVPV.

The high-fat diet induced an irregular estrous cycle in a subgroup of the rats, characterized by an unaffected body weight, but a pronounced increase in leptin levels. Surprisingly, no changes in estrous cyclicity were present in the high-fat fed rats that had an increased body weight as well as an increased leptin level that were lower than in the high-fat fed rats with an irregular estrous cycle. It is highly speculative, but since *Kiss1* expression and the number of kisspeptin-ir cells were unchanged by the high-fat diet, leptin could be implicated in the high-fat diet induced extension of the estrus cycle independent of a modulation of the kisspeptinergic neurons. To elucidate whether this is plausible and whether the mechanisms are the same after a longer high-fat diet exposure requires more studies.

The present studies have added knowledge to the understanding of the effect of a postnatal high-fat diet on pubertal timing and estrous cyclicity. In conclusion, these data shows that a high-fat diet, during lactation, post-weaning or both periods, is unable to affect puberty onset and the kisspeptinergic system. This suggests that an increase in fat energy percentage in the diet alone cannot change the timing of V.O. or affect the kisspeptinergic neurons. However, the high-fat diet induces an irregular estrous cycle, perhaps through leptin, without modulating kisspeptinergic neurons.
### Perspectives

It is still ambiguous whether the secular trend in pubertal timing in girls and impaired reproductive function in women are due to the rising incidence of obesity, and if so, what the link is. To shed light on this matter, more studies, conducted in agreement with the expert panels guidelines, are required, also to elucidate whether a critical developmental window for a nutritional regulation of puberty exist. Animal models like rodents are invaluable when investigating the underlying mechanisms of a nutritional regulation of puberty onset. Surprisingly, no effects of the high-fat diet on puberty onset were observed here, making it impossible to assess whether the high-fat diet induced advancement of puberty onset observed in rodents by others are accompanied by an advanced maturation of the kisspeptinergic system. Therefore, it still remains unclear whether an increase in fat energy percentage in the diet alone can affect the pubertal timing and the kisspeptinergic system since conflicting results have been reported. To elucidate this, further studies are required, and also to define how and when the nutritional challenge should be applied in rodents to model the human

scenario best. To use rodents as a model for human scenarios, the physiological differences between humans and rodents, e.g. regarding regulation of the reactivation of the HPG axis and the metabolic response to a nutritional challenge, needs to be addressed.

# Acknowledgements

First, I would like to thank my external supervisor Jens D. Mikkelsen for knowledgeable guidance and encouragement during the entire project, and my internal supervisor Kim F. Rewitz for invaluable help especially at the end of the project with manuscript proof-reading. I am especially grateful to Agnete H. Bentsen for helping to settle in the beginning and continuous help throughout the project. I appreciate all of our theoretical discussions which have helped me throughout the entire project. Also, the technical assistance of Hans Jørgen Jensen in the laboratory is gratefully acknowledged.

Finally, I would like to thank everyone at Neurobiology Research Unit for a warm and welcoming atmosphere and for all your help and support.

### References

Ahima RS (2000) Leptin and the neuroendocrinology of fasting. Front Horm Res 26:42-56.

- Ahmed ML, Ong KK, Dunger DB (2009) Childhood obesity and the timing of puberty. Trends Endocrinol Metab 20:237-242.
- Akamine EH, Marcal AC, Camporez JP, Hoshida MS, Caperuto LC, Bevilacqua E, Carvalho CR (2010) Obesity induced by high-fat diet promotes insulin resistance in the ovary. J Endocrinol 206:65-74.
- Aksglaede L, Juul A, Olsen LW, Sorensen TI (2009a) Age at puberty and the emerging obesity epidemic. PloS one 4:e8450.
- Aksglaede L, Sorensen K, Petersen JH, Skakkebaek NE, Juul A (2009b) Recent decline in age at breast development: the Copenhagen Puberty Study. Pediatrics 123:e932-939.
- Aparicio SA (2005) Kisspeptins and GPR54--the new biology of the mammalian GnRH axis. Cell Metab 1:293-296.
- Backholer K, Smith JT, Rao A, Pereira A, Iqbal J, Ogawa S, Li Q, Clarke IJ (2010) Kisspeptin cells in the ewe brain respond to leptin and communicate with neuropeptide Y and proopiomelanocortin cells. Endocrinology 151:2233-2243.
- Barber TM, McCarthy MI, Wass JA, Franks S (2006) Obesity and polycystic ovary syndrome. Clin Endocrinol (Oxf) 65:137-145.
- Barker-Gibb ML, Sahu A, Pohl CR, Plant TM (2002) Elevating circulating leptin in prepubertal male rhesus monkeys (Macaca mulatta) does not elicit precocious gonadotropin-releasing hormone release, assessed indirectly. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism 87:4976-4983.
- Bateman HL, Patisaul HB (2008) Disrupted female reproductive physiology following neonatal exposure to phytoestrogens or estrogen specific ligands is associated with decreased GnRH activation and kisspeptin fiber density in the hypothalamus. Neurotoxicology 29:988-997.
- Becker JA, Mirjolet JF, Bernard J, Burgeon E, Simons MJ, Vassart G, Parmentier M, Libert F (2005) Activation of GPR54 promotes cell cycle arrest and apoptosis of human tumor cells through a specific transcriptional program not shared by other Gq-coupled receptors. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 326:677-686.
- Bentsen AH, Ansel L, Simonneaux V, Tena-Sempere M, Juul A, Mikkelsen JD (2009) Maturation of Kisspeptinergic Neurons Coincides with Puberty Onset in Male Rats. Endocrinology Submitted.
- Bieber MA (1986) Lack of oestrogen-like activity in commercially refined vegetable oils. Food and chemical toxicology : an international journal published for the British Industrial Biological Research Association 24:251-253.
- Biro FM, Galvez MP, Greenspan LC, Succop PA, Vangeepuram N, Pinney SM, Teitelbaum S, Windham GC, Kushi LH, Wolff MS (2010) Pubertal assessment method and baseline characteristics in a mixed longitudinal study of girls. Pediatrics 126:e583-590.
- Boukouvalas G, Antoniou K, Papalexi E, Kitraki E (2008) Post weaning high fat feeding affects rats' behavior and hypothalamic pituitary adrenal axis at the onset of puberty in a sexually dimorphic manner. Neuroscience 153:373-382.
- Boukouvalas G, Gerozissis K, Markaki E, Kitraki E (2010) High-fat feeding influences the endocrine responses of pubertal rats to an acute stress. Neuroendocrinology 92:235-245.
- Bouret SG, Draper SJ, Simerly RB (2004a) Formation of projection pathways from the arcuate nucleus of the hypothalamus to hypothalamic regions implicated in the neural control of feeding behavior in mice. J Neurosci 24:2797-2805.
- Bouret SG, Draper SJ, Simerly RB (2004b) Trophic action of leptin on hypothalamic neurons that regulate feeding. Science 304:108-110.
- Bouret SG, Gorski JN, Patterson CM, Chen S, Levin BE, Simerly RB (2008) Hypothalamic neural projections are permanently disrupted in diet-induced obese rats. Cell metabolism 7:179-185.
- Brill DS, Moenter SM (2009) Androgen receptor antagonism and an insulin sensitizer block the advancement of vaginal opening by high-fat diet in mice. Biol Reprod 81:1093-1098.
- Castano JP, Martinez-Fuentes AJ, Gutierrez-Pascual E, Vaudry H, Tena-Sempere M, Malagon MM (2009) Intracellular signaling pathways activated by kisspeptins through GPR54: do multiple signals underlie function diversity? Peptides 30:10-15.
- Castellano JM, Bentsen AH, Mikkelsen JD, Tena-Sempere M (2010) Kisspeptins: bridging energy homeostasis and reproduction. Brain Res 1364:129-138.
- Castellano JM, Bentsen AH, Sanchez-Garrido MA, Ruiz-Pino F, Romero M, Garcia-Galiano D, Aguilar E, Pinilla L, Dieguez C, Mikkelsen JD, Tena-Sempere M (2011) Early metabolic programming of puberty onset: impact of changes in postnatal feeding and rearing conditions on the timing of puberty and development of the hypothalamic kisspeptin system. Endocrinology 152:3396-3408.

- Castellano JM, Navarro VM, Fernandez-Fernandez R, Castano JP, Malagon MM, Aguilar E, Dieguez C, Magni P, Pinilla L, Tena-Sempere M (2006a) Ontogeny and mechanisms of action for the stimulatory effect of kisspeptin on gonadotropin-releasing hormone system of the rat. Mol Cell Endocrinol 257-258:75-83.
- Castellano JM, Navarro VM, Fernandez-Fernandez R, Nogueiras R, Tovar S, Roa J, Vazquez MJ, Vigo E, Casanueva FF, Aguilar E, Pinilla L, Dieguez C, Tena-Sempere M (2005) Changes in hypothalamic KiSS-1 system and restoration of pubertal activation of the reproductive axis by kisspeptin in undernutrition. Endocrinology 146:3917-3925.
- Castellano JM, Navarro VM, Fernandez-Fernandez R, Roa J, Vigo E, Pineda R, Dieguez C, Aguilar E, Pinilla L, Tena-Sempere M (2006b) Expression of hypothalamic KiSS-1 system and rescue of defective gonadotropic responses by kisspeptin in streptozotocin-induced diabetic male rats. Diabetes 55:2602-2610.
- Chang GQ, Gaysinskaya V, Karatayev O, Leibowitz SF (2008) Maternal high-fat diet and fetal programming: increased proliferation of hypothalamic peptide-producing neurons that increase risk for overeating and obesity. J Neurosci 28:12107-12119.
- Cheung CC, Thornton JE, Kuijper JL, Weigle DS, Clifton DK, Steiner RA (1997) Leptin is a metabolic gate for the onset of puberty in the female rat. Endocrinology 138:855-858.
- Clarkson J, Boon WC, Simpson ER, Herbison AE (2009a) Postnatal development of an estradiol-kisspeptin positive feedback mechanism implicated in puberty onset. Endocrinology 150:3214-3220.
- Clarkson J, de Tassigny XD, Colledge WH, Caraty A, Herbison AE (2009b) Distribution of kisspeptin neurons in the adult female mouse brain. Journal of neuroendocrinology.
- Clarkson J, Han SK, Liu X, Lee K, Herbison AE (2010) Neurobiological mechanisms underlying kisspeptin activation of gonadotropin-releasing hormone (GnRH) neurons at puberty. Mol Cell Endocrinol 324:45-50.
- Clarkson J, Herbison AE (2006) Postnatal development of kisspeptin neurons in mouse hypothalamus; sexual dimorphism and projections to gonadotropin-releasing hormone neurons. Endocrinology 147:5817-5825.
- Clarkson J, Herbison AE (2009) Oestrogen, Kisspeptin, GPR54 and the Preovulatory Luteinising Hormone Surge. Journal of neuroendocrinology.
- Cole TJ (2006) Childhood obesity: assessment and prevalence Childhood Obesity, Contemporary Issues (Cameron, N et al, eds), CRC Press, Taylor & Francis Group, LLC, 3-12.
- Cunningham MJ, Clifton DK, Steiner RA (1999) Leptin's actions on the reproductive axis: perspectives and mechanisms. Biol Reprod 60:216-222.
- d'Anglemont de Tassigny X, Fagg LA, Dixon JP, Day K, Leitch HG, Hendrick AG, Zahn D, Franceschini I, Caraty A, Carlton MB, Aparicio SA, Colledge WH (2007) Hypogonadotropic hypogonadism in mice lacking a functional Kiss1 gene. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 104:10714-10719.
- Davison KK, Susman EJ, Birch LL (2003) Percent body fat at age 5 predicts earlier pubertal development among girls at age 9. Pediatrics 111:815-821.
- de Ridder CM, Thijssen JH, Bruning PF, Van den Brande JL, Zonderland ML, Erich WB (1992) Body fat mass, body fat distribution, and pubertal development: a longitudinal study of physical and hormonal sexual maturation of girls. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism 75:442-446.
- de Roux N, Genin E, Carel JC, Matsuda F, Chaussain JL, Milgrom E (2003) Hypogonadotropic hypogonadism due to loss of function of the KiSS1-derived peptide receptor GPR54. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 100:10972-10976.
- Desroziers E, Mikkelsen JD, Duittoz A, Franceschini I (2012) Kisspeptin-immunoreactivity changes in a sex- and hypothalamic-region specific manner across rat postnatal development. Journal of neuroendocrinology.
- Dhillo WS (2008) Kisspeptin: a novel regulator of reproductive function. Journal of neuroendocrinology 20:963-970.
- Dhillo WS, Chaudhri OB, Patterson M, Thompson EL, Murphy KG, Badman MK, McGowan BM, Amber V, Patel S, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR (2005) Kisspeptin-54 stimulates the hypothalamic-pituitary gonadal axis in human males. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism 90:6609-6615.
- Dhillo WS, Chaudhri OB, Thompson EL, Murphy KG, Patterson M, Ramachandran R, Nijher GK, Amber V, Kokkinos A, Donaldson M, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR (2007) Kisspeptin-54 stimulates gonadotropin release most potently during the preovulatory phase of the menstrual cycle in women. The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism 92:3958-3966.
- Donato J, Jr., Cravo RM, Frazao R, Elias CF (2011a) Hypothalamic sites of leptin action linking metabolism and reproduction. Neuroendocrinology 93:9-18.
- Donato J, Jr., Cravo RM, Frazao R, Gautron L, Scott MM, Lachey J, Castro IA, Margatho LO, Lee S, Lee C, Richardson JA, Friedman J, Chua S, Jr., Coppari R, Zigman JM, Elmquist JK, Elias CF (2011b) Leptin's effect on puberty in mice is relayed by the ventral premammillary nucleus and does not require signaling in Kiss1 neurons. J Clin Invest 121:355-368.

- Dourmashkin JT, Chang GQ, Hill JO, Gayles EC, Fried SK, Leibowitz SF (2006) Model for predicting and phenotyping at normal weight the long-term propensity for obesity in Sprague-Dawley rats. Physiology & behavior 87:666-678.
- Dunger DB, Ahmed ML, Ong KK (2006) Early and late weight gain and the timing of puberty. Molecular and cellular endocrinology 254-255:140-145.
- El-Sayed M, Hofman-Bang J, Mikkelsen JD (2011) Effect of brain-derived neurotrophic factor on activity-regulated cytoskeleton-associated protein gene expression in primary frontal cortical neurons. Comparison with NMDA and AMPA. European journal of pharmacology 660:351-357.
- elSattar ElBaltran SA (2001) Studies on the oestrogenic activity of soybean oil on albino rats. Bollettino chimico farmaceutico 140:119-124.
- Euling SY, Herman-Giddens ME, Lee PA, Selevan SG, Juul A, Sorensen TI, Dunkel L, Himes JH, Teilmann G, Swan SH (2008) Examination of US puberty-timing data from 1940 to 1994 for secular trends: panel findings. Pediatrics 121 Suppl 3:S172-191.
- Fernandez-Fernandez R, Navarro VM, Barreiro ML, Vigo EM, Tovar S, Sirotkin AV, Casanueva FF, Aguilar E, Dieguez C, Pinilla L, Tena-Sempere M (2005) Effects of chronic hyperghrelinemia on puberty onset and pregnancy outcome in the rat. Endocrinology 146:3018-3025.
- Forbes S, Li XF, Kinsey-Jones J, O'Byrne K (2009) Effects of ghrelin on Kisspeptin mRNA expression in the hypothalamic medial preoptic area and pulsatile luteinising hormone secretion in the female rat. Neuroscience letters 460:143-147.
- Frisch RE (1994) The right weight: body fat, menarche and fertility. Proc Nutr Soc 53:113-129.
- Garcia-Galiano D, Pinilla L, Tena-Sempere M (2012) Sex steroids and the control of the Kiss1 system: developmental roles and major regulatory actions. Journal of neuroendocrinology 24:22-33.
- Goldman JM, Murr AS, Cooper RL (2007) The rodent estrous cycle: characterization of vaginal cytology and its utility in toxicological studies. Birth defects research Part B, Developmental and reproductive toxicology 80:84-97.
- Gottsch ML, Cunningham MJ, Smith JT, Popa SM, Acohido BV, Crowley WF, Seminara S, Clifton DK, Steiner RA (2004) A role for kisspeptins in the regulation of gonadotropin secretion in the mouse. Endocrinology 145:4073-4077.
- Guerriero KA, Keen KL, Millar RP, Terasawa E (2012a) Developmental changes in GnRH release in response to kisspeptin agonist and antagonist in female rhesus monkeys (Macaca mulatta): implication for the mechanism of puberty. Endocrinology 153:825-836.
- Guerriero KA, Keen KL, Terasawa E (2012b) Developmental Increase in Kisspeptin-54 Release in Vivo Is Independent of the Pubertal Increase in Estradiol in Female Rhesus Monkeys (Macaca mulatta). Endocrinology.
- Han SK, Gottsch ML, Lee KJ, Popa SM, Smith JT, Jakawich SK, Clifton DK, Steiner RA, Herbison AE (2005) Activation of gonadotropin-releasing hormone neurons by kisspeptin as a neuroendocrine switch for the onset of puberty. J Neurosci 25:11349-11356.
- Havel PJ (2001) Peripheral signals conveying metabolic information to the brain: short-term and long-term regulation of food intake and energy homeostasis. Exp Biol Med (Maywood) 226:963-977.
- He Q, Karlberg J (2001) Bmi in childhood and its association with height gain, timing of puberty, and final height. Pediatr Res 49:244-251.
- Herbison AE, de Tassigny X, Doran J, Colledge WH (2010) Distribution and postnatal development of Gpr54 gene expression in mouse brain and gonadotropin-releasing hormone neurons. Endocrinology 151:312-321.
- Herbison AE, Porteous R, Pape JR, Mora JM, Hurst PR (2008) Gonadotropin-releasing hormone neuron requirements for puberty, ovulation, and fertility. Endocrinology 149:597-604.
- Herde MK, Geist K, Campbell RE, Herbison AE (2011) Gonadotropin-releasing hormone neurons extend complex highly branched dendritic trees outside the blood-brain barrier. Endocrinology 152:3832-3841.
- Hilakivi-Clarke L, Clarke R, Onojafe I, Raygada M, Cho E, Lippman M (1997) A maternal diet high in n 6 polyunsaturated fats alters mammary gland development, puberty onset, and breast cancer risk among female rat offspring. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 94:9372-9377.
- Irwig MS, Fraley GS, Smith JT, Acohido BV, Popa SM, Cunningham MJ, Gottsch ML, Clifton DK, Steiner RA (2004) Kisspeptin activation of gonadotropin releasing hormone neurons and regulation of KiSS-1 mRNA in the male rat. Neuroendocrinology 80:264-272.
- Iwasa T, Matsuzaki T, Murakami M, Fujisawa S, Kinouchi R, Gereltsetseg G, Kuwahara A, Yasui T, Irahara M (2010) Effects of intrauterine undernutrition on hypothalamic Kiss1 expression and the timing of puberty in female rats. J Physiol 588:821-829.
- Kalamatianos T, Grimshaw SE, Poorun R, Hahn JD, Coen CW (2008) Fasting reduces KiSS-1 expression in the anteroventral periventricular nucleus (AVPV): effects of fasting on the expression of KiSS-1 and neuropeptide Y in the AVPV or arcuate nucleus of female rats. Journal of neuroendocrinology 20:1089-1097.
- Kamara K, Eskay R, Castonguay T (1998) High-fat diets and stress responsivity. Physiology & behavior 64:1-6.

Kaplowitz PB (2008) Link between body fat and the timing of puberty. Pediatrics 121 Suppl 3:S208-217.

- Karaolis-Danckert N, Buyken AE, Sonntag A, Kroke A (2009) Birth and early life influences on the timing of puberty onset: results from the DONALD (DOrtmund Nutritional and Anthropometric Longitudinally Designed) Study. The American journal of clinical nutrition 90:1559-1565.
- Kauffman AS, Gottsch ML, Roa J, Byquist AC, Crown A, Clifton DK, Hoffman GE, Steiner RA, Tena-Sempere M (2007) Sexual differentiation of Kiss1 gene expression in the brain of the rat. Endocrinology 148:1774-1783.
- Keen KL, Wegner FH, Bloom SR, Ghatei MA, Terasawa E (2008) An increase in kisspeptin-54 release occurs with the pubertal increase in luteinizing hormone-releasing hormone-1 release in the stalk-median eminence of female rhesus monkeys in vivo. Endocrinology 149:4151-4157.
- Kinoshita M, Tsukamura H, Adachi S, Matsui H, Uenoyama Y, Iwata K, Yamada S, Inoue K, Ohtaki T, Matsumoto H, Maeda K (2005) Involvement of central metastin in the regulation of preovulatory luteinizing hormone surge and estrous cyclicity in female rats. Endocrinology 146:4431-4436.
- Kirby HR, Maguire JJ, Colledge WH, Davenport AP (2010) International Union of Basic and Clinical Pharmacology. LXXVII. Kisspeptin receptor nomenclature, distribution, and function. Pharmacol Rev 62:565-578.
- Kotani M, Detheux M, Vandenbogaerde A, Communi D, Vanderwinden JM, Le Poul E, Brezillon S, Tyldesley R, Suarez-Huerta N, Vandeput F, Blanpain C, Schiffmann SN, Vassart G, Parmentier M (2001) The metastasis suppressor gene KiSS-1 encodes kisspeptins, the natural ligands of the orphan G protein-coupled receptor GPR54. J Biol Chem 276:34631-34636.
- Lapatto R, Pallais JC, Zhang D, Chan YM, Mahan A, Cerrato F, Le WW, Hoffman GE, Seminara SB (2007) Kiss1-/mice exhibit more variable hypogonadism than Gpr54-/- mice. Endocrinology 148:4927-4936.
- Lee DK, Nguyen T, O'Neill GP, Cheng R, Liu Y, Howard AD, Coulombe N, Tan CP, Tang-Nguyen AT, George SR, O'Dowd BF (1999) Discovery of a receptor related to the galanin receptors. FEBS Lett 446:103-107.
- Lee JH, Miele ME, Hicks DJ, Phillips KK, Trent JM, Weissman BE, Welch DR (1996) KiSS-1, a novel human malignant melanoma metastasis-suppressor gene. J Natl Cancer Inst 88:1731-1737.
- Lee JM, Appugliese D, Kaciroti N, Corwyn RF, Bradley RH, Lumeng JC (2007) Weight status in young girls and the onset of puberty. Pediatrics 119:e624-630.
- Lehman MN, Merkley CM, Coolen LM, Goodman RL (2010) Anatomy of the kisspeptin neural network in mammals. Brain Res 1364:90-102.
- Linne Y (2004) Effects of obesity on women's reproduction and complications during pregnancy. Obes Rev 5:137-143.
- Liu X, Lee K, Herbison AE (2008) Kisspeptin excites gonadotropin-releasing hormone neurons through a phospholipase C/calcium-dependent pathway regulating multiple ion channels. Endocrinology 149:4605-4614.
- Lo CY, Hsieh PH, Chen HF, Su HM (2009) A maternal high-fat diet during pregnancy in rats results in a greater risk of carcinogen-induced mammary tumors in the female offspring than exposure to a high-fat diet in postnatal life. Int J Cancer 125:767-773.
- Louis GW, Greenwald-Yarnell M, Phillips R, Coolen LM, Lehman MN, Myers MG, Jr. (2011) Molecular mapping of the neural pathways linking leptin to the neuroendocrine reproductive axis. Endocrinology 152:2302-2310.
- Luque RM, Kineman RD, Tena-Sempere M (2007) Regulation of hypothalamic expression of KiSS-1 and GPR54 genes by metabolic factors: analyses using mouse models and a cell line. Endocrinology 148:4601-4611.
- Maisonet M, Christensen KY, Rubin C, Holmes A, Flanders WD, Heron J, Ong KK, Golding J, McGeehin MA, Marcus M (2010) Role of prenatal characteristics and early growth on pubertal attainment of British girls. Pediatrics 126:e591-600.
- Marcondes FK, Bianchi FJ, Tanno AP (2002) Determination of the estrous cycle phases of rats: some helpful considerations. Brazilian journal of biology = Revista brasleira de biologia 62:609-614.
- Marshall WA, Tanner JM (1969) Variations in pattern of pubertal changes in girls. Archives of disease in childhood 44:291-303.
- Mason AO, Greives TJ, Scotti MA, Levine J, Frommeyer S, Ketterson ED, Demas GE, Kriegsfeld LJ (2007) Suppression of kisspeptin expression and gonadotropic axis sensitivity following exposure to inhibitory day lengths in female Siberian hamsters. Horm Behav 52:492-498.
- Matsui H, Takatsu Y, Kumano S, Matsumoto H, Ohtaki T (2004) Peripheral administration of metastin induces marked gonadotropin release and ovulation in the rat. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 320:383-388.
- Matsuzaki T, Iwasa T, Kinouchi R, Yoshida S, Murakami M, Gereltsetseg G, Yamamoto S, Kuwahara A, Yasui T, Irahara M (2011) Fasting reduces the kiss1 mRNA levels in the caudal hypothalamus of gonadally intact adult female rats. Endocrine journal 58:1003-1012.
- Mayer C, Acosta-Martinez M, Dubois SL, Wolfe A, Radovick S, Boehm U, Levine JE (2010) Timing and completion of puberty in female mice depend on estrogen receptor alpha-signaling in kisspeptin neurons. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 107:22693-22698.
- Mayer C, Boehm U (2011) Female reproductive maturation in the absence of kisspeptin/GPR54 signaling. Nat Neurosci 14:704-710.

- MERCK (2004) H&E staining Hematoxylin solution modified according to Gill III, Mayer's hemalum solution and eosin Y solution. <u>http://19321817133/ex/downloads/brochures/clinical/W287121pdf</u> (Internet the 11th of April).
- Messager S, Chatzidaki EE, Ma D, Hendrick AG, Zahn D, Dixon J, Thresher RR, Malinge I, Lomet D, Carlton MB, Colledge WH, Caraty A, Aparicio SA (2005) Kisspeptin directly stimulates gonadotropin-releasing hormone release via G protein-coupled receptor 54. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102:1761-1766.
- Mikkelsen JD, Bentsen AH, Ansel L, Simonneaux V, Juul A (2009) Comparison of the effects of peripherally administered kisspeptins. Regul Pept 152:95-100.
- Mikkelsen JD, Simonneaux V (2008) The neuroanatomy of the kisspeptin system in the mammalian brain. Peptides.
- Moral R, Escrich R, Solanas M, Vela E, Costa I, de Villa MC, Escrich E (2011) Diets high in corn oil or extra-virgin olive oil provided from weaning advance sexual maturation and differentially modify susceptibility to mammary carcinogenesis in female rats. Nutr Cancer 63:410-420.
- Mouritsen A, Aksglaede L, Sorensen K, Mogensen SS, Leffers H, Main KM, Frederiksen H, Andersson AM, Skakkebaek NE, Juul A (2010) Hypothesis: exposure to endocrine-disrupting chemicals may interfere with timing of puberty. International journal of andrology 33:346-359.
- Muir AI, Chamberlain L, Elshourbagy NA, Michalovich D, Moore DJ, Calamari A, Szekeres PG, Sarau HM, Chambers JK, Murdock P, Steplewski K, Shabon U, Miller JE, Middleton SE, Darker JG, Larminie CG, Wilson S, Bergsma DJ, Emson P, Faull R, Philpott KL, Harrison DC (2001) AXOR12, a novel human G protein-coupled receptor, activated by the peptide KiSS-1. J Biol Chem 276:28969-28975.
- Navarro VM, Castellano JM, Fernandez-Fernandez R, Barreiro ML, Roa J, Sanchez-Criado JE, Aguilar E, Dieguez C, Pinilla L, Tena-Sempere M (2004a) Developmental and hormonally regulated messenger ribonucleic acid expression of KiSS-1 and its putative receptor, GPR54, in rat hypothalamus and potent luteinizing hormonereleasing activity of KiSS-1 peptide. Endocrinology 145:4565-4574.
- Navarro VM, Castellano JM, Fernandez-Fernandez R, Tovar S, Roa J, Mayen A, Barreiro ML, Casanueva FF, Aguilar E, Dieguez C, Pinilla L, Tena-Sempere M (2005a) Effects of KiSS-1 peptide, the natural ligand of GPR54, on follicle-stimulating hormone secretion in the rat. Endocrinology 146:1689-1697.
- Navarro VM, Castellano JM, Fernandez-Fernandez R, Tovar S, Roa J, Mayen A, Nogueiras R, Vazquez MJ, Barreiro ML, Magni P, Aguilar E, Dieguez C, Pinilla L, Tena-Sempere M (2005b) Characterization of the potent luteinizing hormone-releasing activity of KiSS-1 peptide, the natural ligand of GPR54. Endocrinology 146:156-163.
- Navarro VM, Fernandez-Fernandez R, Castellano JM, Roa J, Mayen A, Barreiro ML, Gaytan F, Aguilar E, Pinilla L, Dieguez C, Tena-Sempere M (2004b) Advanced vaginal opening and precocious activation of the reproductive axis by KiSS-1 peptide, the endogenous ligand of GPR54. J Physiol 561:379-386.
- Nelson SM, Fleming R (2007) Obesity and reproduction: impact and interventions. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol 19:384-389.
- Oakley AE, Clifton DK, Steiner RA (2009) Kisspeptin signaling in the brain. Endocr Rev 30:713-743.
- Ohtaki T, Shintani Y, Honda S, Matsumoto H, Hori A, Kanehashi K, Terao Y, Kumano S, Takatsu Y, Masuda Y, Ishibashi Y, Watanabe T, Asada M, Yamada T, Suenaga M, Kitada C, Usuki S, Kurokawa T, Onda H, Nishimura O, Fujino M (2001) Metastasis suppressor gene KiSS-1 encodes peptide ligand of a G-proteincoupled receptor. Nature 411:613-617.
- Parent AS, Teilmann G, Juul A, Skakkebaek NE, Toppari J, Bourguignon JP (2003) The timing of normal puberty and the age limits of sexual precocity: variations around the world, secular trends, and changes after migration. Endocr Rev 24:668-693.
- Pasquali R, Patton L, Gambineri A (2007) Obesity and infertility. Curr Opin Endocrinol Diabetes Obes 14:482-487.
- Paxinos G, Watson C (eds.) (1986) The Rat Brain in Stereotaxic Coordinates.
- Pineda R, Garcia-Galiano D, Roseweir A, Romero M, Sanchez-Garrido MA, Ruiz-Pino F, Morgan K, Pinilla L, Millar RP, Tena-Sempere M (2010) Critical roles of kisspeptins in female puberty and preovulatory gonadotropin surges as revealed by a novel antagonist. Endocrinology 151:722-730.
- Plant T, Witchel S (2006) Puberty in nonhuman primates and humans. In: Neill JD, ed Physiology of reproduction 2177-2230.
- Plant TM (2012) A comparison of the neuroendocrine mechanisms underlying the initiation of the preovulatory LH surge in the human, Old World monkey and rodent. Frontiers in neuroendocrinology.
- Plant TM, Barker-Gibb ML (2004) Neurobiological mechanisms of puberty in higher primates. Human reproduction update 10:67-77.
- Pralong FP (2010) Insulin and NPY pathways and the control of GnRH function and puberty onset. Mol Cell Endocrinol 324:82-86.

Purcell RH, Sun B, Pass LL, Power ML, Moran TH, Tamashiro KL (2011) Maternal stress and high-fat diet effect on maternal behavior, milk composition, and pup ingestive behavior. Physiology & behavior 104:474-479.

- Quennell JH, C.S. H, Roa J, Augustine RA, Grattan DR, Anderson GM (2011) Leptin Deficiency and Diet-Induced Obesity Reduce Hypothalamic Kisspeptin Expression in Mice. Neuroendocrinology 152:1541-1550.
- Ramaswamy S, Guerriero KA, Gibbs RB, Plant TM (2008) Structural interactions between kisspeptin and GnRH neurons in the mediobasal hypothalamus of the male rhesus monkey (Macaca mulatta) as revealed by double immunofluorescence and confocal microscopy. Endocrinology 149:4387-4395.
- Ramaswamy S, Seminara SB, Pohl CR, DiPietro MJ, Crowley WF, Jr., Plant TM (2007) Effect of continuous intravenous administration of human metastin 45-54 on the neuroendocrine activity of the hypothalamic-pituitary-testicular axis in the adult male rhesus monkey (Macaca mulatta). Endocrinology 148:3364-3370.
- Roa J, Aguilar E, Dieguez C, Pinilla L, Tena-Sempere M (2008) New frontiers in kisspeptin/GPR54 physiology as fundamental gatekeepers of reproductive function. Front Neuroendocrinol 29:48-69.
- Roa J, Navarro VM, Tena-Sempere M (2011) Kisspeptins in reproductive biology: consensus knowledge and recent developments. Biol Reprod 85:650-660.
- Rosenfield RL, Lipton RB, Drum ML (2009) Thelarche, pubarche, and menarche attainment in children with normal and elevated body mass index. Pediatrics 123:84-88.
- Schmittgen TD, Livak KJ (2008) Analyzing real-time PCR data by the comparative C(T) method. Nature protocols 3:1101-1108.
- Seminara SB, Dipietro MJ, Ramaswamy S, Crowley WF, Jr., Plant TM (2006) Continuous human metastin 45-54 infusion desensitizes G protein-coupled receptor 54-induced gonadotropin-releasing hormone release monitored indirectly in the juvenile male Rhesus monkey (Macaca mulatta): a finding with therapeutic implications. Endocrinology 147:2122-2126.
- Seminara SB, Messager S, Chatzidaki EE, Thresher RR, Acierno JS, Jr., Shagoury JK, Bo-Abbas Y, Kuohung W, Schwinof KM, Hendrick AG, Zahn D, Dixon J, Kaiser UB, Slaugenhaupt SA, Gusella JF, O'Rahilly S, Carlton MB, Crowley WF, Jr., Aparicio SA, Colledge WH (2003) The GPR54 gene as a regulator of puberty. N Engl J Med 349:1614-1627.
- Shahab M, Mastronardi C, Seminara SB, Crowley WF, Ojeda SR, Plant TM (2005) Increased hypothalamic GPR54 signaling: a potential mechanism for initiation of puberty in primates. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102:2129-2134.
- Sloboda DM, Howie GJ, Pleasants A, Gluckman PD, Vickers MH (2009) Pre- and postnatal nutritional histories influence reproductive maturation and ovarian function in the rat. PloS one 4:e6744.
- Smith JT (2009) Sex steroid control of hypothalamic Kiss1 expression in sheep and rodents: Comparative aspects. Peptides 30:94-102.
- Smith JT, Acohido BV, Clifton DK, Steiner RA (2006a) KiSS-1 neurones are direct targets for leptin in the ob/ob mouse. Journal of neuroendocrinology 18:298-303.
- Smith JT, Cunningham MJ, Rissman EF, Clifton DK, Steiner RA (2005a) Regulation of Kiss1 gene expression in the brain of the female mouse. Endocrinology 146:3686-3692.
- Smith JT, Dungan HM, Stoll EA, Gottsch ML, Braun RE, Eacker SM, Clifton DK, Steiner RA (2005b) Differential regulation of KiSS-1 mRNA expression by sex steroids in the brain of the male mouse. Endocrinology 146:2976-2984.
- Smith JT, Li Q, Yap KS, Shahab M, Roseweir AK, Millar RP, Clarke IJ (2011) Kisspeptin is essential for the full preovulatory LH surge and stimulates GnRH release from the isolated ovine median eminence. Endocrinology 152:1001-1012.
- Smith JT, Popa SM, Clifton DK, Hoffman GE, Steiner RA (2006b) Kiss1 neurons in the forebrain as central processors for generating the preovulatory luteinizing hormone surge. J Neurosci 26:6687-6694.
- Smith JT, Spencer SJ (2012) Pre-Weaning Over- and Under-Feeding Alters Onset of Puberty in the Rat Without Affecting Kisspeptin. Biol Reprod.
- Sun Y, Tian Z, Zhao H, Wong ST, Chen B (2007) Characteristic of hypothalamic kisspeptin expression in the pubertal development of precocious female rats. Neuroscience letters 420:12-17.
- Takase K, Uenoyama Y, Inoue N, Matsui H, Yamada S, Shimizu M, Homma T, Tomikawa J, Kanda S, Matsumoto H, Oka Y, Tsukamura H, Maeda KI (2009) Possible role of oestrogen in pubertal increase of Kiss1/kisspeptin expression in discrete hypothalamic areas of female rats. Journal of neuroendocrinology 21:527-537.
- Takumi K, Iijima N, Ozawa H (2011) Developmental changes in the expression of kisspeptin mRNA in rat hypothalamus. Journal of molecular neuroscience : MN 43:138-145.
- Tena-Sempere M (2006a) KiSS-1 and reproduction: focus on its role in the metabolic regulation of fertility. Neuroendocrinology 83:275-281.
- Tena-Sempere M (2006b) The roles of kisspeptins and G protein-coupled receptor-54 in pubertal development. Curr Opin Pediatr 18:442-447.

- Tena-Sempere M (2008) Ghrelin as a pleotrophic modulator of gonadal function and reproduction. Nature clinical practice Endocrinology & metabolism 4:666-674.
- Terasawa E, Fernandez DL (2001) Neurobiological mechanisms of the onset of puberty in primates. Endocr Rev 22:111-151.
- Terasawa E, Kurian JR, Guerriero KA, Kenealy BP, Hutz ED, Keen KL (2010) Recent discoveries on the control of gonadotrophin-releasing hormone neurones in nonhuman primates. Journal of neuroendocrinology 22:630-638.
- Thompson EL, Patterson M, Murphy KG, Smith KL, Dhillo WS, Todd JF, Ghatei MA, Bloom SR (2004) Central and peripheral administration of kisspeptin-10 stimulates the hypothalamic-pituitary-gonadal axis. Journal of neuroendocrinology 16:850-858.
- Tomikawa J, Uenoyama Y, Ozawa M, Fukanuma T, Takase K, Goto T, Abe H, Ieda N, Minabe S, Deura C, Inoue N, Sanbo M, Tomita K, Hirabayashi M, Tanaka S, Imamura T, Okamura H, Maeda KI, Tsukamura H (2012) Epigenetic regulation of Kiss1 gene expression mediating estrogen-positive feedback action in the mouse brain. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America.
- True C, Kirigiti M, Ciofi P, Grove KL, Smith MS (2011) Characterisation of arcuate nucleus kisspeptin/neurokinin B neuronal projections and regulation during lactation in the rat. Journal of neuroendocrinology 23:52-64.
- Wahab F, Ullah F, Chan Y-M, Seminara SB, Shahab M (2011) Decrease in Hypothalamic Kiss1 and Kiss1r Expression: A potential Mechanism for Fasting-induced Supression of the HPG Axis in the Adult Male Rhesus Monkey (Macaca mulatta). Hormone and Metobolic Research 43:81-85.
- West A, Vojta PJ, Welch DR, Weissman BE (1998) Chromosome localization and genomic structure of the KiSS-1 metastasis suppressor gene (KISS1). Genomics 54:145-148.
- Wu M, Dumalska I, Morozova E, van den Pol A, Alreja M (2009) Melanin-concentrating hormone directly inhibits GnRH neurons and blocks kisspeptin activation, linking energy balance to reproduction. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106:17217-17222.
- Yeo SH, Herbison AE (2011) Projections of arcuate nucleus and rostral periventricular kisspeptin neurons in the adult female mouse brain. Endocrinology 152:2387-2399.

## Appendix I

### DIO Rodent Purified Diet w/10% Energy From Fat - Yellow

### ł

DESCRIPTION Diet Induced Obesity Rodent Purified Diet with F 10% Energy From Fat, Dyed Yellow is based on AIN-76A Seni-Purific Diet, Rat or Mouse 5800-B. See Van Heek et al., J. Clin. Invest. 99:385-390, 1997, for initial use of lower-fat versions of this

Storage conditions are particularly critical to TestDiet® products, due to the absence of antioxidants or preservative agents. To provide maximum protection against possible changes during storage, store in a dry, cool location. Storage under refrigeration (2° C) is recommended. Maximum shelf life is six months. (If long term studies are involved, storing the diet at -20° C or colder may prolong shelf life.) Be

formula. Originally manufactured as "D12450B"

Product Forms Available*	Catalog #			
1/2" Pellet	58124			
1/2" Pellet, Irradiated	56834			
Meal	1810727			
Meal, Irradiated	1810728			

*Other Forms Available On Re INGREDIENTS (%)	
Sucrose	33.1290
Dextrin	29.8560
Casein - Vitamin Free	18.9560
Powdered Cellulose	4.7390
Maltodextrin	3.3170
Soybean Oil	2.3700
Lard	1.8960
Potassium Citrate, Tribasic Monohydrate	1.5640
Dicalcium Phosphate	1.2320
DIO Mineral Mix	0.9480
AIN-76A Vitamin Mix	0.9480
Calcium Carbonate	0.5210
L-Cystine	0.2840
Choline Bitartrate	0.1900
Yellow Dye	0.0500

#### FEEDING DIRECTIONS

Feed ad libitum. Plenty of fresh, clean water should be available at all times.

CAUTION: Perishable - store properly upon receipt. For laboratory animal use only; NOT for human consumption.

6/28/2007

•			
NUTRITIONAL	1		
Protein, %		17.3	Minerals
Arginine, %		0.66	Calcium, %
Histidine, %		0.49	Phosphorus, %
Isoleucine, %		0.91	Phosphorus (available), %
Leucine, %		1.64	Potassium, %
Lysine, %		1.38	Magnesium, %
Methionine, %		0.49	Sodium, %
Cystine, %		0.35	Chloride, %
Phenylalanine, %		0.91	Fluorine, ppm
Tyrosine, %		0.96	Iron, ppm
Threonine, %		0.73	Zinc, ppm
Tryptophan, %		0.21	Manganese, ppm
Valine, %		1.08	Copper, ppm
Alanine, %		0.52	Cobalt, ppm
Aspartic Acid, %		1.22	lodine, ppm
Glutamic Acid, %		3.87	Chromium, ppm
Glycine, %		0.37	Molybdenum, ppm
Proline, %		2.23	Selenium, ppm
Serine, %		1.05	
Taurine, %		0.00	Vitamins
Eat %		12	Vitamin A, IU/g
Cholesterol ppm		4.3 18	Vitamin D-3 (added), IU/g
		1 30	Vitamin E, IU/kg
Linolenic Acid, 78		0.10	Vitamin K (as menadione),
Arachidonic Acid %		0.19	Thiamin Hydrochloride, ppr
Omena-3 Fatty Acids %		0.00	Ripotiavin, ppm
Total Saturated Fatty A		1 1/	Niacin, ppm
Total Monounsaturated		1.14	Pantotnenic Acid, ppm
Fatty Acids, %		1.30	Folic Acia, ppm
Polyunsaturated Fatty Ad	cids. %	1.59	Pyridoxine, ppm
, ,	,		Biotin, ppm
Fiber (max), %		4.7	Vitamin B-12, mcg/kg
Carbobydratas 0/		67.4	Choline Chloride, ppm
Carbonydrates, %		07.4	Ascorbic Acia, ppm
Energy (kcal/g) $^2$		3.78	<ol> <li>Based on the latest ingr information. Since nutrient</li> </ol>
From:	kcal	%	natural ingredients varies,
Protein	0.692	18.3	anter accordingly. Nutrient
Fat (ether extract)	0.384	10.2	except where otherwise inc
Carbohydrates	2.697	71.5	<ol> <li>Energy (kcal/gm) - Sum fractions of protein, fat and</li> </ol>

0.12 0.21 0.9 n 44 34 ppm 55 5.7 0.0 0.20 pm 1.9 1.55 ppm 0.15 m 3.8 /g added), IU/g 0.9 49.3 /kg menadione), ppm 0.48 rochloride, ppm 5.7 om 5.7 28 Acid, ppm 14 1.9 om pm 5.5 0.2 mcg/kg 9 950 ride, ppm 0.0 l, ppm the latest ingredient analysis Since nutrient composition of dients varies, analysis will ngly. Nutrients expressed as

58Y2

0.57

0.43

0.43

0.57

0.05

ion on an As-Fed basis otherwise indicated. cal/gm) - Sum of decimal







## Appendix II

### DIO Rodent Purified Diet w/60% Energy From Fat - Blue

58Y1

#### DESCRIPTION

Diet Induced Obesity Rodent Purified Diet with 60% Energy From Fat - Dyed Blue is based on AIN-76A Semi-Purified Diet, Rat or Mouse 5800-B. See Van Heek et al., J. Clin. Invest. 99:385-390, 1997, for initial use of this formula. Originally manufactured as "D12492".

Storage conditions are particularly critical to TestDiet® products, due to the absence of antioxidants or preservative agents. To provide maximum protection against possible changes during storage, store in a dry, cool location. Storage under refrigeration ( $2^{\circ}$  C) is recommended. Maximum shelf life is six months. (If long term studies are involved, storing the diet at -20° C or colder may prolong shelf life.) Be certain to keep in air tight containers.

Catalog #
58126
56833
1810473

\*Other Forms Available By Request

Lard	31.6600
Casein - Vitamin Free	25.8450
Maltodextrin	16.1530
Sucrose	8.8470
Powdered Cellulose	6.4610
Soybean Oil	3.2310
Potassium Citrate, Tribasic	2.1320
Monohydrate	
Calcium Phosphate	1.6800
AIN-76A Vitamin Mix	1.2920
DIO Mineral Mix	1.2920
Calcium Carbonate	0.7110
L-Cystine	0.3880
Choline Bitartrate	0.2580
Blue Dve #1	0 0500

### Part of the TestDiet® "Blue-Pink-Yellow" DIO Series ("van Heek" Series)

DIO Rodent Purified Diet w/10% Energy From Fat - Yellow 1/2" Pellet - Catalog # 58124 (58Y2) Meal - Catalog # 56834 (58Y2)

DIO Rodent Purified Diet w/45% Energy From Fat - Red

1/2" Pellet - Catalog # 58125 (58V8) 1/2" Pellet, Irradiated - Catalog # 55629 (58V8) Meal - Catalog # 1810729 (58V8) Meal, Irradiated - Catalog # 1810730 (58V8)

#### FEEDING DIRECTIONS

Feed ad libitum. Plenty of fresh, clean water should be available at all times. **CAUTION:** 

Perishable - store properly upon receipt.

For laboratory animal use only, not for human consumption.

9/14/2010

Protein, %		23.1
Arginine, %		0.90
Histidine, %		0.67
Isoleucine, %		1.24
Leucine, %		2.24
Lysine, %		1.88
Methionine, %		0.67
Cystine, %		0.48
Phenylalanine, %		1.24
Tyrosine, %		1.31
Threonine, %		1.00
Tryptophan, %		0.29
Valine, %		1.47
Alanine, %		0.71
Aspartic Acid, %		1.66
Glutamic Acid, %		5.28
Glycine, %		0.50
Proline, %		3.04
Serine, %		1.43
Taurine, %		0.00
Fat, %		34.9
Cholesterol, ppm		301
Linoleic Acid, %		4.70
Linolenic Acid, %		0.39
Arachidonic Acid, %		0.06
Omega-3 Fatty Acids, %		0.39
Total Saturated Fatty Acids	, %	13.68
Total Monounsaturated		
Fatty Acids, %		14.00
Fiber (max), %		6.5
Carbohydrates, %		25.9
Energy (kcal/g) <sup>2</sup>		5.10
From:	kcal	%
Protein	0.924	18.1
Eat (other extract)		
	3.140	61.6

Minerals	
Calcium, %	0.79
Phosphorus, %	0.59
Phosphorus (available), %	0.59
Potassium, %	0.77
Magnesium, %	0.07
Sodium, %	0.15
Chlorine, %	0.25
Fluorine, ppm	1.2
Iron, ppm	64
Zinc, ppm	46
Manganese, ppm	76
Copper, ppm	7.8
Cobalt, ppm	0.0
lodine, ppm	0.27
Chromium, ppm	2.6
Molybdenum, ppm	2.11
Selenium, ppm	0.29
Vitamins	
Vitamin A, IU/g	5.2
Vitamin D-3 (added), IU/g	1.3
Vitamin E, IU/kg	67.2
Vitamin K (as menadione), ppm	0.65
Thiamin Hydrochloride, ppm	7.8
Riboflavin, ppm	8.7
Niacin, ppm	39
Pantothenic Acid, ppm	21
Folic Acid, ppm	2.8
Pyridoxine, ppm	7.5
Biotin, ppm	0.3
Vitamin B-12, mcg/kg	18
Choline Chloride, ppm	1,290
Ascorbic Acid, ppm	0.0
1. Formulation based on calculat values from the latest incredient a	ed

values from the latest ingredient analysis information. Since nutrient composition of natural ingredients varies and some nutrient loss will occur due to manufacturing processes, analysis will differ accordingly. Nutrients expressed as percent of ration on an As Fed basis except where otherwise indicated. 2. Energy (kcal/gm) - Sum of decimal fractions of protein, fat and carbohydrate x 4,9,4 kcal/gm respectively.





## Appendix III

Table 5. If com	parative summ	ary of m D T N	D21 34, III D	THD21 pube	rty, m b i Nbi	10, and m D	INDI 54.	
Experiment	HFD PND21-	-34	HFD PND2	1-puberty	HFD PND1-1	6	HFD PND1-3	4
Diet	Control	High-fat	Control	High-fat	Control	High-fat	Control	High-fat
Final weight at PND34	111.2±1.2	115.8±1.0	-	-	117.4±3.7	115.3±4.9	117.4±3.7	121.1±4.5
Weight gain (g) <sup>1</sup>	64.7±1.2	69.1±1.5*	85.1±1.5 <sup>2</sup>	88.6±1.2 <sup>2</sup>	38.4±0.7 <sup>3</sup>	36.9±0.5 <sup>3</sup>	103.6±1.84	105.7±1.84
% with V.O. at PND34	45%	60%	67%	63%	44%	33%	44%	59%
Leptin (ng/ml) <sup>5</sup>	1.92±0.19	2.05±0.19	-	-	1.95±0.21	$1.65 \pm 0.05$	1.95±0.21	2.03±0.40
Insulin (ug/ml) <sup>5</sup>	1.20±0.22	1.07±0.14	-	-	0.63±0.11	0.33±0.14	0.63±0.11	0.57±0.15
Triglyceride (mg/ml) <sup>5</sup>	1.05±0.15	0.71±0.08	-	-	0.50±0.05	0.39±0.03	0.50±0.05	0.46±0.06
Estradiol (pg/mL) <sup>5</sup>	17.10±2.23	14.65±0.97	-	-	13.01±1.50	10.98±1.3	13.01±1.50	10.59±0.75
<i>Kiss1</i> mRNA in ARC <sup>6</sup>	100.0± 6.4	109.4±10.9	-	-	99.8±4.4	96.0±1.4	99.8±4.4	98.2±3.6
<i>Kiss1</i> mRNA in AVPV <sup>6</sup>	99.9±17.8	90.7±19.0	-	-	100.4±10.5	82.7±12.3	100.3±10.5	104.8±8.2
Kisspeptin- ir cells in ARC <sup>7</sup>	100.3±25.0	151.8±32.0	-	-	-	-	-	-
Kisspeptin- ir cells in AVPV <sup>7</sup>	2.0±0.9	$4.2 \pm 1.4$	-	-	-	-	-	-

Table 3. A comparative summary of HFD PND21-34, HFD PND21-puberty, HFD PND1-16, and HFD PND1-34.

<sup>1</sup>Weight gain during the high-fat diet periods. <sup>2</sup>Weight gain from postnatal day (PND) 21 to 37. <sup>3</sup>Weight gain from PND1 to 18. <sup>4</sup>Weight gain from PND7 to 34. <sup>5</sup>Plasma levels at PND34. <sup>6</sup>Kiss1 mRNA levels were determined by qRT-PCR at PND34, and depicted as fold change in relation to the control. <sup>7</sup>Number of kisspeptin-immunoreactive (kisspeptin-ir) cells were determined by IHC with JVL-1 1:200. All data is presented as mean±SEM. \*P<0.05, unpaired student's t-test.

Table 4. A comparative summary of HFD PND21-adulthood and subgroups.

Experiment	HFD PND21-adulthood				
Group	Vehicle	HFD regular cycle	HFD extended cycle		
Diet	Control	High-fat diet	High-fat diet		
Final weight at PND34	226.6±3.1	245.8±3.3***	232.7±5.1		
Weight gain (g) <sup>1</sup>	180.6±2.8	199.4±3.2***	188.4±5.3		
Leptin (ng/mL) <sup>2</sup>	3.22±0.23	5.51±0.47***	6.72±0.51***		
Insulin (ug/mL) <sup>2</sup>	3.23±0.43	2.89±0.54	2.05±0.39		
Triglyceride (mg/mL) <sup>2</sup>	1.05±0.11	0.65±0.08*	0.88±0.14		
Estradiol (pg/mL) <sup>2</sup>	26.68±2.46	19.86±1.89	23.24±3.21		
Kiss1 mRNA in ARC <sup>3</sup>	99.9±7.5	90.7±13.6	86.4±15.6		
Kiss1 mRNA in AVPV <sup>3</sup>	100.0±14.1	87.3±8.6	89.8±12.1		
Kisspeptin-ir cells in ARC <sup>4</sup>	577.7±47.4	573.3±42.8	553.5±129.5		
Kisspeptin-ir cells in AVPV <sup>4</sup>	2.9±1.1	5.6±1.6	5.0±2.0		

<sup>1</sup>Weight gain is from PND21 to 61. <sup>2</sup>Plasma levels at PND61 to 68 in the diestrous phase. <sup>3</sup>Kiss1 mRNA were determined by qRT-PCR at PND61 to 68, and depicted as fold change in relation to the control. <sup>4</sup>Number of kisspeptin-immunoreactive (kisspeptin-ir) cells were determined by IHC with JVL-1 1:200. All data is presented as mean±SEM. \*P<0.05, One-Way ANOVA, n=8-24, \*\*\*P<0.001, One-Way ANOVA, n=8-24.